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Page No.

A. Call to Order

B. Land Acknowledgement

We acknowledge that York Region is located on the traditional territory of
many Indigenous peoples including the Anishinaabeg, Haudenosaunee,
Huron-Wendat and Métis peoples and the treaty territories of the
Haudenosaunee, Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation and Williams
Treaties First Nations.

Today this area is home to many diverse Indigenous Peoples, and we
recognize their history, spirituality, culture and stewardship of this land.

We also acknowledge the Chippewas of Georgina Island First Nation as
our closest First Nation community.

C. Disclosures of Interest

D. Presentations

D.1 The Regional Municipality of York - Audit Findings Report for the
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Maria Khoushnood, KPMG LLP

(See Item E.1)

D.2 2022 Financial Statements

Laura Mirabella, Commissioner of Finance and Regional Treasurer

Jason Li, Director, Controllership Office and Deputy Treasurer

(See Item F.1)



E. Communications

E.1 The Regional Municipality of York - Audit Findings Report for the
Year Ended December 31, 2022

1

Maria Khoushnood, KPMG LLP dated April 11, 2023

Recommendation: Receive

E.2 Implementation of Audit Recommendation Requirement to Update
the Public Health Branch Sexual Health Clinics Community Needs
Assessment

32

Memorandum dated May 23, 2023 from Katherine Chislett,
Commissioner of Community and Health Services

Recommendation: Receive

F. Reports

F.1 2022 Financial Statements and Auditor's Report 34

Report dated May 25, 2023 from the Commissioner of Finance and
Regional Treasurer and the Director, Controllership Office and
Deputy Treasurer, recommending that:

Council receive this report for information.1.

F.2 Audit Services Branch Report 103

Report dated June 8, 2023 from the Director of Audit Services
recommending that:

Council receive this report for information.1.

G. Other Business

G.1 Resignation of Audit Committee Member

Due to a conflict of interest, Regional Councillor Li has tendered
his resignation from the Audit Committee.



H. Private Session

H.1 Private Attachment 1 to Item F.2 - Audit Services Branch Report -
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards Audit - Report -
Security of Property

H.1.1 Private Attachment 1a. to Item F.2 - Audit Services
Branch Report - Payment Card Industry Data Security
Standards Audit - Management Report - Security of
Property

H.1.2 Private Attachment 1b. to Item F.2 - Audit Services
Branch Report - Attestation of Compliance for Self-
Assessment Questionnaire D - Merchants - Security of
Property

H.1.3 Private Attachment 1c. to Item F.2 - Audit Services
Branch Report - Self-Assessment Questionnaire D and
Attestation of Compliance for Merchants - Security of
Property

I. Adjournment
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KPMG contacts
Key contacts in connection with this engagement

Robert Masters
Audit Manager
416-228-7296 
rmasters@kpmg.ca

Maria Khoushnood
Lead Audit Engagement Partner

416-228-7082
mkhoushnood@kpmg.ca

Katie DenBok
Engagement Quality Control Review Partner

519-660-2115
kdenbok@kpmg.ca
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Audit highlights

Uncorrected audit misstatements
No matters to report

Status of the audit
We have completed the audit of the consolidated financial statements (“financial 
statements”) , with the exception of certain remaining outstanding procedures, which 
are highlighted on slide 5 of this report.

Significant changes to our audit plan
There were no significant changes to our audit plan which was originally communicated 
to you in the audit planning report.

Audit risks and results –
going concern assessment

No matters to report.

Control deficiencies
We did not identify any control deficiencies that we determined to be significant 
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting. 

Accounting policies and practices
No matters to report.

Audit risks and results 
– significant risks

No matters to report.

Corrected audit misstatements
No matters to report.

Other financial reporting matters
No matters to report.

Significant unusual transactions
No matters to report.

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Status of the audit
As of the date of preparation of this Audit Findings Report, we have completed the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, with the exception of certain remaining procedures, which include amongst others:

• Completing our discussions with the Audit Committee

We will update the Audit Committee, on significant matters, if any, arising from the completion of the audit, including 
the completion of the above procedures.

Our auditor’s report, will be dated upon the completion of any remaining procedures.

KPMG Clara for Clients (KCfc)

Learn more

On your audit we used KCfc to coordinate requests 
from Region employees.

Real-time collaboration and transparency
We leveraged KCfc to facilitate real-time collaboration 

with your team and provide visual insights into the 
status of the audit! 

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Significant risk

Our response and findings

• Our audit methodology incorporated the required procedures in professional standards to address this risk.

• Our audit approach consisted of evaluating the design and implementation of selected relevant controls. We tested journal entries that meet specific criteria. This criteria was 
designed during the planning phase of the audit and is based on areas and accounts that are susceptible to manipulation through management override. We also designed 
search filters that allowed us to identify any unusual journal entries. 

• As part of our audit approach to address the inherent risk of error in revenue recognition, we substantively tested revenues (both recognized and amounts held as deferred at 
year end). We also incorporated an element of uncertainty into the journal entries and revenue testing.

• We did not identify any issues related to fraud risk associated with revenue recognition.

Estimate with a risk of material misstatement?

We highlight our significant findings in respect of significant risks as identified in our discussion with you in the Audit Plan, as well as any additional significant risks identified. 

Significant risks and results

The primary risk of fraudulent revenue recognition resides with manual journal entries for revenue 
transactions not in the normal course of business, specifically related to management’s calculation of 
the deferred revenue – obligatory reserve funds.

No

Presumption of the risk of fraud involving improper revenue recognition

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Significant risk

Our response and findings

• As this risk is not rebuttable, our audit methodology incorporated the required procedures in professional standards to address this risk.

• These procedures included the testing of journal entries and other adjustments, performing a retrospective review of estimates and evaluating the business rationale of significant 
unusual transaction.

• We did not identify any issues or concerns regarding management override of controls.

Estimate with a risk of material misstatement?

Significant risks and results

Management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability to manipulate accounting 
records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be 
operating effectively. Although the level of risk of management override of controls will vary from entity 
to entity, the risk nevertheless is present in all entities

No

Management Override of Controls

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Other significant findings and results

The Region recognizes revenue from different streams including net taxation, user charges, government 
transfers, development charges, investment income, fees and services, and other. Management follows 
the revenue recognition policies reported in note 1 to the financial statements to recognize revenue in 
accordance with PSAS, which includes deferring receipts and contributions if performance obligations 
are not met.

.
Our response and significant findings

• We substantively tested revenues recognized and amounts held as deferred at year end using sampling techniques and direct confirmation of certain revenues with third parties, 
including other governments and agencies. 

• We reviewed the calculation of deferred revenue continuity prepared by management and ensured the cash receipts and revenue recognized ties to our audited work.  
• We tested a sample of cash receipts to supporting agreements and bank records and found no issues in the deferral of these receipts. 
• We tested a sample of expended funds to supporting records of the underlying expenditures, noting that the expenditures were related to the purpose for which the contributions 

were recorded, and found no issues in the recognition of funds as revenue.

No  

We highlight other significant findings including such findings in other areas of focus as identified in the Audit Plan as follows:

Other significant finding Estimate with a risk of material misstatement?

Revenue and Deferred Revenues Earned

Our findings

• The amounts reported for revenue and deferred revenue for obligatory reserve as at year-end are reasonable. 
• The note disclosures related to revenue and deferred revenue for obligatory reserves are in accordance with PSAS.

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Other findings and results

In fiscal 2022, the Region engaged Nexus Actuarial Consultants Ltd., an external actuarial consultant 
(the “Actuary”) to undertake an independent actuarial valuation of the Region’s post-employment 
benefits and vested sick leave benefits dated January 2023. A valuation update was performed to 
determine the liability as reported in the Region’s 2022 financial statements. 

A discount rate of 4.5% (2021 – 3.25%) was used for the determination of the liability. 

Our response

• We obtained the actuarial valuation report and audited the data, method and assumptions applied in the valuation and performed trend analysis on the liability. We engaged our 
actuarial specialist to assist with these procedures. 

• We evaluated the discount rate in comparison with rates issued by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”) and KPMG LLP.
• We assessed the qualifications, competence and objectivity of the actuary as required by the Canadian auditing standards.
• We assessed the disclosures in the financial statements against the requirements of the PSAS.

Yes – Employee future 
benefits obligation/liability 

Other finding Estimate with a risk of material misstatement?

Employee benefits liability  

Our findings

• Based on our review of the report prepared by the actuary, we noted that the method applied for the estimate is acceptable per the Canadian Institute of Actuaries and Public 
Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) 3250 Retirement Benefits. 

• We assessed the key assumptions used by the actuary in light of the Region’s financial results. We also performed a sideways glance to compare the assumptions used by the 
actuary for the Region with other Ontario municipalities and we did not note any significant differences. 

• We noted that the discount rate used by the Actuary is a key assumption. We evaluated the discount rate used by the actuary against the discount rate curve issued by different 
reliable sources. Based on this evaluation, we concluded that the discount rate used is reasonable.

• The disclosures included in the financial statements are in accordance with the requirements of the public sector accounting standards. 
• Based on the audit work performed, we did not note any issues related to the calculation of the Region’s employee benefits liability as at December 31, 2022.   
• The employee benefit liability as at December 31, 2022 are outlined in note 6 to the financial statements.

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Other findings and results

PSAS 3300 Contingent Liabilities requires that the Region recognize a liability when “it is likely that a 
future event will confirm that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements; and the 
amount can be reasonably estimated.” At any point in time, the Region is subject to a number of matters 
which could potentially result in the determination of a contingent liability as defined above, including, 
but not limited to matters such as legal claims, etc. 

The Region has disclosed the legal liability in note 11 of the financial statements.

Our response

• We held discussions with the Legal & Court Services Department of the Region to understand the process employed to determine the estimates for the liabilities related to legal 
matters.

• We obtained an understanding of the methodologies applied to compute the estimate, data involved, and assumptions applied.
• We obtained and evaluated the Region’s assessments and claims listing that are used to develop and record these estimated liabilities.
• We obtained a legal confirmation from internal legal counsel and evaluated the assessments made by internal legal counsel on the pending legal matters in terms of 

determination of likelihood and measurability.

Estimation uncertainty exists related to the likelihood and measurement 
of the contingent liability. 

However, this estimation uncertainty does not result in a risk of material 
misstatement. 

Other finding Estimate with a risk of material misstatement?

Contingencies

Our findings

• Based on the audit work performed, we are satisfied that the method, data, and assumptions used by the Region are reasonable and consistent with industry norms. The 
approach is also consistent with prior years.

• As these items are resolved, it is possible that the final amounts recorded for these liabilities may change, however the amounts currently recorded represent management’s 
best estimate of exposure given the information presently available.

• Based on the work performed, the contingent liabilities reported by the Region are reasonable.

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Other findings and results

Tangible capital assets present the biggest non-financial asset for the Region. There is a risk of material 
misstatement related to the existence and accuracy of tangible capital assets and accuracy of timing of 
revenue recognition, particularly related to funds intended for tangible capital assets.

Our response and findings

• We tested on a sample basis the additions to tangible capital assets and noted that management has appropriately capitalized the additions including transfers from work in 
progress to tangible capital assets. We obtained assurance related to the accuracy and existence of these additions and also assessed if these additions met the criteria for 
capitalization. 

• We tested on a sample basis the work in progress to ensure amounts are properly transferred to correct capital asset classes and amortization commences on a timely basis.

• We tested on a sample basis contributed and assumed assets to assess if these assets had been recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution. 

• We assessed financial statement note disclosure in line with the PSAS.

• We obtained amortization policy and assessed reasonableness of estimated useful lives in use and to address the requirements of new CAS540, Auditing Accounting Estimates 
and Related Disclosure related to useful lives.

• There were no other significant findings as a result of our audit procedures for tangible capital assets. The amounts reported for tangible capital assets are reasonable and 
disclosures in the financial statements are in accordance with the public sector accounting standards.

No

Other finding Estimate with a risk of material misstatement?

Tangible capital assets

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Other findings and results

The Region consolidates the following entities and organizations in the consolidated financial 
statements for the Region: 
• Housing York Inc. 
• York Region Rapid Transit Corporation
• YTN Telecom Network Inc.
Inter-departmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances are between these entities and 
organizations are eliminated.  

Our response and findings

• Each of the entities and organizations noted above are considered non-significant components to the Region’s financial statements. For each of these entities and organizations, 
there is a required statutory audit performed. These individual audits are performed by the same audit team as for the main Region.

• We obtained an understanding of the consolidation process in place by management including the review and approval controls, checks and balances, and information system 
being utilized for the consolidation process and the financial reporting process. 

• We obtained the consolidation workbook from management and completed our audit procedures related to consolidation including elimination of inter-departmental and inter-
organizational transactions, pick up of government business enterprises and any other transactions that are relevant for consolidation. 

• Based on the work performed we did not identify any issues or errors. 

No

Other finding Estimate with a risk of material misstatement?

Consolidation 

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Significant accounting policies and practicesSignificant accounting policies and practices

Description of new or revised significant accounting policies and practices

None in 2022. Refer to appendix C for upcoming significant accounting standard changes.

Initial selections of significant accounting policies and practices

None in 2022. 

Significant qualitative aspects of the Company’s accounting policies and practices

Significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements

Estimates and assumptions are disclosed in Note 1 (b) (xix). 

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Audit quality: How do we deliver audit quality?
Quality essentially means doing the right thing and remains our highest 
priority. Our Global Quality Framework outlines how we deliver quality 
and how every partner and staff member contributes to its delivery.

Perform quality engagement sits at the core along with our commitment 
to continually monitor and remediate to fulfil on our quality drivers. 

Our quality value drivers are the cornerstones to our approach 
underpinned by the supporting drivers and give clear direction to 
encourage the right behaviours in delivering audit quality.

We define ‘audit quality’ as being the outcome when:

• audits are executed consistently, in line with the requirements and intent of 
applicable professional standards within a strong system of quality controls; and 

• all of our related activities are undertaken in an environment of the utmost level of 
objectivity, independence, ethics and integrity. 

KPMG 2022 Audit Quality and Transparency Report

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendices
Other required 
communicationsA C Changes in 

accounting standardsB Newly effective 
auditing standards

Environmental, 
social and 
governance (ESG)D Audit and 

assurance insightsE

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix A: Other required communications

Engagement terms

A copy of the engagement letter and any subsequent amendments has been 
provided to the Audit Committee.

CPAB communication protocol

The reports available through the following links were published by the Canadian 
Public Accountability Board to inform Audit Committees and other stakeholders 
about the results of quality inspections conducted over the past year:

• CPAB Audit Quality Insights Report: 2021 Annual Inspections Results

• CPAB Audit Quality Insights Report: 2022 Annual Inspections Results

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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https://www.cpab-ccrc.ca/docs/default-source/inspections-reports/2021-annual-inspections-results-en.pdf?sfvrsn=55b1df58_10
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Appendix B: Newly effective auditing standards

We design and perform risk assessment procedures to obtain 
an understanding of the:
• entity and its environment;
• applicable financial reporting framework; and
• entity’s system of internal control. 

The audit evidence obtained from this understanding provides 
a basis for:
• identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error; and
• the design of audit procedures that are responsive to the 

assessed risks of material misstatement.

A risk of material 
misstatement

exists when there is 
a reasonable 
possibility of a 
misstatement 

occurring and being 
material if it were to 

occur

CAS 315 (Revised) Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement has been revised, reorganized and modernized in response to challenges and issues with the 
previous standard. It aims to promote consistency in application, improve scalability, reduce complexity, support a more robust risk assessment and incorporate enhanced guidance 
material to respond to the evolving environment, including in relation to information technology. Conforming and consequential amendments have been made to other International 
Standards on Auditing.

Affects both preparers of 
financial statements and 

auditors

Applies to audits of financial 
statements for periods 

beginning on or after 15 
December 2021 

See here for more information from CPA Canada

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix B: Newly effective auditing standards

Overall, a more robust risk 
identification and assessment 
process, including:

• New requirement to take into 
account how, and the degree to 
which, ‘inherent risk factors’ affect 
the susceptibility of relevant 
assertions to misstatement

• New concept of significant classes 
of transactions, account balances 
and disclosures and relevant 
assertions to help us to identify and 
assess the risks of material 
misstatement

• New requirement to separately 
assess inherent risk and control risk 
for each risk of material 
misstatement

• Revised definition of significant risk 
for those risks which are close to 
the upper end of the spectrum of 
inherent risk

When assessing inherent risk for identified risks of material 
misstatement, we consider the degree to which inherent risk 
factors (such as complexity, subjectivity, uncertainty, change, 
susceptibility to management bias) affect the susceptibility of 
assertions to misstatement.

We use the concept of the spectrum of inherent risk to assist us 
in making a judgement, based on the likelihood and magnitude of 
a possible misstatement, on a range from higher to lower, when 
assessing risks of material misstatement

The changes may affect our assessments of the risks of material 
misstatement and the design of our planned audit procedures to 
respond to identified risks of material misstatement.

If we do not plan to test the operating effectiveness of controls, 
the risk of material misstatement is the same as the assessment 
of inherent risk.

If the effect of this consideration is that our assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement is higher, then our audit approach may 
increase the number of controls tested and/or the extent of that 
testing, and/or our substantive procedures will be designed to be 
responsive to the higher risk.

We may perform different audit procedures and request different 
information compared to previous audits, as part of a more focused 
response to the effects identified inherent risk factors have on the 
assessed risks of material misstatement.

Key change Impact on the audit team Impact on management

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix B: Newly effective auditing standards
Key change

Overall, a more robust risk 
identification and assessment 
process, including evaluating 
whether the audit evidence 
obtained from risk assessment 
procedures provides an 
appropriate basis to identify 
and assess the risks of material 
misstatement

When making this evaluation, we consider all audit evidence obtained, 
whether corroborative or contradictory to management assertions. If 
we conclude the audit evidence obtained does not provide an 
appropriate basis, then we perform additional risk assessment 
procedures until audit evidence has been obtained to provide such a 
basis.

In certain circumstances, we may perform additional risk 
assessment procedures, which may include further inquires of 
management, analytical procedures, inspection and/or observation.

Overall, a more robust risk 
identification and assessment 
process, including performing 
a ‘stand back’ at the end of the 
risk assessment process

We evaluate whether our determination that certain material classes 
of transactions, account balances or disclosures have no identified 
risks of material misstatement remains appropriate.

In certain circumstances, this evaluation may result in the 
identification of additional risks of material misstatement, which will 
require us to perform additional audit work to respond to these risks.

Impact on the audit team Impact on management

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix B: Newly effective auditing standards

Modernized to recognize the 
evolving environment, 
including in relation to IT

New requirement to understand the extent to which the business 
model integrates the use of IT. 

When obtaining an understanding of the IT environment, including IT 
applications and supporting IT infrastructure, it has been clarified that 
we also understand the IT processes and personnel involved in those 
processes relevant to the audit.

Based on the identified controls we plan to evaluate, we are required 
to identify the:
• IT applications and other aspects of the IT environment relevant to 

those controls
• related risks arising from the use of IT and the entity’s general IT 

controls that address them. 

Examples of risks that may arise from the use of IT include 
unauthorized access or program changes, inappropriate data 
changes, risks from the use of external or internal service providers for 
certain aspects of the entity’s IT environment or cybersecurity risks.

We will expand our risk assessment procedures and are likely to 
engage more extensively with your IT and other relevant personnel 
when obtaining an understanding of the entity’s use of IT, the IT 
environment and potential risks arising from IT. This might require 
increased involvement of IT audit professionals.

Changes in the entity’s use of IT and/or the IT environment may 
require increased audit effort to understand those changes and 
affect our assessment of the risks of material misstatement and 
audit response.

Risks arising from the use of IT and our evaluation of general IT 
controls may affect our control risk assessments, and decisions 
about whether we test the operating effectiveness of controls for the 
purpose of placing reliance on them or obtain more audit evidence 
from substantive procedures. They may also affect our strategy for 
testing information that is produced by, or involves, the entity’s IT 
applications. 

Enhanced requirements 
relating to exercising 
professional skepticism

New requirement to design and perform risk assessment procedures 
in a manner that is not biased toward obtaining audit evidence that 
may be corroborative or toward excluding audit evidence that may be 
contradictory. Strengthened documentation requirements to 
demonstrate the exercise of professional scepticism.

We may make changes to the nature, timing and extent of our risk 
assessment procedures, such as our inquires of management, the 
activities we observe or the accounting records we inspect.

Key change Impact on the audit team Impact on management

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix B: Newly effective auditing standards

Clarification of which controls need 
to be identified for the purpose of 
evaluating the design and 
implementation of a control

We will evaluate the design and implementation of controls that 
address risks of material misstatement at the assertion level as 
follows:

• Controls that address a significant risk. 
• Controls over journal entries, including non-standard journal 

entries.
• Other controls we consider appropriate to evaluate to enable 

us to identify and assess risks of material misstatement and 
design our audit procedures

We may identify new or different controls that we plan to evaluate 
the design and implementation of, and possibly test the operating 
effectiveness to determine if we can place reliance on them.

We may also identify risks arising from IT relating to the controls we 
plan to evaluate, which may result in the identification of general IT 
controls that we also need to evaluate and possibly test whether 
they are operating effectively. This may require increased 
involvement of IT audit specialists.

Key change Impact on the audit team Impact on management

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix C: Changes in accounting standards
Standard Summary and implications

Asset retirement 
obligations

• The new standard PS 3280 Asset retirement obligations is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2022. 
• The new standard addresses the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of legal obligations associated with 

retirement of tangible capital assets. Retirement costs will be recognized as an integral cost of owning and operating tangible 
capital assets.

• The asset retirement obligations (“ARO”) standard will require the public sector entity to record a liability related to future costs 
of any legal obligations to be incurred upon retirement of any controlled tangible capital assets (“TCA”). The amount of the initial 
liability will be added to the historical cost of the asset and amortized over its useful life if the asset is in productive use.

• As a result of the new standard, the public sector entity will: 
• Consider how the additional liability will impact net debt, as a new liability will be recognized with no corresponding increase

in a financial asset;
• Carefully review legal agreements, senior government directives and legislation in relation to all controlled TCA to determine if 

any legal obligations exist with respect to asset retirements;
• Begin considering the potential effects on the organization as soon as possible to coordinate with resources outside the 

finance department to identify ARO and obtain information to estimate the value of potential ARO to avoid unexpected issues.

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix C: Changes in accounting standards (continued)
Standard Summary and implications

Financial 
instruments and 
foreign currency 
translation

• The new standards PS 3450 Financial instruments, PS 2601 Foreign currency translation, PS 1201 Financial statement 
presentation and PS 3041 Portfolio investments are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2022. 

• Equity instruments quoted in an active market and free-standing derivatives are to be carried at fair value. All other financial
instruments, including bonds, can be carried at cost or fair value depending on the public sector entity’s choice and this choice 
must be made on initial recognition of the financial instrument and is irrevocable.

• Hedge accounting is not permitted.
• A new statement, the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses, will be included in the financial statements. Unrealized 

gains and losses incurred on fair value accounted financial instruments will be presented in this statement. Realized gains and 
losses will continue to be presented in the statement of operations.

• PS 3450 Financial instruments was amended subsequent to its initial release to include various federal government narrow-
scope amendments. 

Revenue • The new standard PS 3400 Revenue is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2023. 
• The new standard establishes a single framework to categorize revenue to enhance the consistency of revenue recognition and 

its measurement. 
• The standard notes that in the case of revenue arising from an exchange transaction, a public sector entity must ensure the 

recognition of revenue aligns with the satisfaction of related performance obligations. 
• The standard notes that unilateral revenue arises when no performance obligations are present, and recognition occurs when 

there is authority to record the revenue and an event has happened that gives the public sector entity the right to the revenue.

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix C: Changes in accounting standards (continued)
Standard Summary and implications

Purchased 
Intangibles

• The new Public Sector Guideline 8 Purchased intangibles is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2023 with 
earlier adoption permitted. 

• The guideline allows public sector entities to recognize intangibles purchased through an exchange transaction. The definition of 
an asset, the general recognition criteria and GAAP hierarchy are used to account for purchased intangibles.

• Narrow scope amendments were made to PS 1000 Financial statement concepts to remove the prohibition to recognize 
purchased intangibles and to PS 1201 Financial statement presentation to remove the requirement to disclose purchased 
intangibles not recognized. 

• The guideline can be applied retroactively or prospectively.

Public Private 
Partnerships

• The new standard PS 3160 Public private partnerships is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2023.
• The standard includes new requirements for the recognition, measurement and classification of infrastructure procured through

a public private partnership. 
• The standard notes that recognition of infrastructure by the public sector entity would occur when it controls the purpose and 

use of the infrastructure, when it controls access and the price, if any, charged for use, and it controls any significant interest 
accumulated in the infrastructure when the public private partnership ends.

• The public sector entity recognizes a liability when it needs to pay cash or non-cash consideration to the private sector partner 
for the infrastructure.

• The infrastructure would be valued at cost, which represents fair value at the date of recognition with a liability of the same 
amount if one exists. Cost would be measured in reference to the public private partnership process and agreement, or by 
discounting the expected cash flows by a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the project.

• The standard can be applied retroactively or prospectively.

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix C: Changes in accounting standards (continued)
Standard Summary and implications

Concepts 
Underlying 
Financial 
Performance

• The revised conceptual framework is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2026 with earlier adoption permitted. 
• The framework provides the core concepts and objectives underlying Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
• The ten chapter conceptual framework defines and elaborates on the characteristics of public sector entities and their financial

reporting objectives. Additional information is provided about financial statement objectives, qualitative characteristics and 
elements. General recognition and measurement criteria, and presentation concepts are introduced.

Financial 
Statement 
Presentation

• The proposed section PS 1202 Financial statement presentation will replace the current section PS 1201 Financial statement 
presentation. PS 1202 Financial statement presentation will apply to fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2026 to coincide 
with the adoption of the revised conceptual framework. Early adoption will be permitted. 

• The proposed section includes the following:
• Relocation of the net debt indicator to its own statement called the statement of net financial assets/liabilities, with the 

calculation of net debt refined to ensure its original meaning is retained.
• Separating liabilities into financial liabilities and non-financial liabilities.
• Restructuring the statement of financial position to present total assets followed by total liabilities.
• Changes to common terminology used in the financial statements, including re-naming accumulated surplus (deficit) to net 

assets (liabilities).
• Removal of the statement of remeasurement gains (losses) with the information instead included on a new statement called 

the statement of changes in net assets (liabilities). This new statement would present the changes in each component of net 
assets (liabilities), including a new component called “accumulated other”.

• A new provision whereby an entity can use an amended budget in certain circumstances.
• Inclusion of disclosures related to risks and uncertainties that could affect the entity’s financial position.

• The Public Sector Accounting Board is currently deliberating on feedback received on exposure drafts related to the reporting
model.

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix C: Changes in accounting standards (continued)
Standard Summary and implications

Employee 
benefits

• The Public Sector Accounting Board has initiated a review of sections PS 3250 Retirement benefits and PS 3255 Post-
employment benefits, compensated absences and termination benefits. 

• The intention is to use principles from International Public Sector Accounting Standard 39 Employee benefits as a starting point 
to develop the Canadian standard.

• Given the complexity of issues involved and potential implications of any changes that may arise from the review of the existing
guidance, the new standards will be implemented in a multi-release strategy. The first standard will provide foundational 
guidance. Subsequent standards will provide additional guidance on current and emerging issues.

• The proposed section PS 3251 Employee benefits will replace the current sections PS 3250 Retirement benefits and PS 3255 
Post-employment benefits, compensated absences and termination benefits. It will apply to fiscal years beginning on or after 
April 1, 2026. Early adoption will be permitted and guidance applied retroactively. 

• This proposed section would result in public sector entities recognizing the impact of revaluations of the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) immediately on the statement of financial position. Organizations would also assess the funding status of their 
post-employment benefit plans to determine the appropriate rate for discounting post-employment benefit obligations.

• The Public Sector Accounting Board is in the process of evaluating comments received from stakeholders on the exposure draft. 

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix D: Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
The Importance of Sustainability Reporting

Sustainability Reporting –
Who is impacted?

• Lenders and underwriters – increased 
focus on ESG considerations when 
making access to capital decisions

• Investors – ESG integration has 
become an investment norm

• Employees – ESG has become a key 
factor in attracting and retaining top 
talent

• Consumers – stakeholders increasingly 
scrutinize companies’ ESG performance 
and transparency affecting brand 
acceptance and consumer demand

Importance to the Audit 
Committee

• Regulatory developments – ESG-
related compliance costs and disclosure 
requirements continue to evolve as rules 
are finalized

• Material ESG issues – Audit 
Committees should understand 
stakeholder priorities and the company’s 
material ESG risks and opportunities

• Value creation – developing a clear 
ESG strategy, along with a standardized 
reporting process can set a company 
apart from its competitors 

Governance on ESG Data and 
Sustainability Reporting

• Data collecting and reporting –
understand the ESG frameworks and 
reporting standards most commonly 
adopted in the industry and jurisdiction 
(benchmark to others in the industry)

• ESG assurance – Audit Committees are 
best positioned to understand which 
ESG metrics merit assurance. An 
assurance readiness assessment on 
Carbon is a common and often 
recommended first place to start 

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix D: Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
All companies are facing climate-related risks and opportunities – and are making strategic decisions in response. The impacts of climate-related risks in the financial 
statements are broad, potentially complex and will depend on the industry-specific risks.

How might climate-

related risks impact 

the financial 

statements?

Assets
Consider the useful lives and residual values of PP&E and intangible assets, cash flow 
projections used for impairment testing of non-financial assets, and the potential impacts 
on inventories.

01
Liabilities
Consider the recognition of environmental and decommissioning obligations, accounting 
for emissions or ‘green’ schemes, impact on employee-benefit arrangements, and 
restructuring provisions.

02
Borrowers
Consider the accounting for different forms of government assistance, potential for 
embedded derivatives in green bonds, lease of green technology, impacts of leasing 
polluting assets.

03
Lenders
Consider how climate-related risks impact operating and financing leases, the potential 
impact on expected credit losses, and whether green loans meet the SPPI criterion.04
Disclosures
Consider the impact on the going concern assessment and related disclosures and 
whether the impacts of climate-related matters have been disclosed clearly.05

See here for 
more 

information

Additional MattersAudit Highlights Misstatements AppendicesStatus Audit QualityAudit Risks and results
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Appendix D: Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

1. Refer to our Q4 2022 Current Developments – Spotlight on IFRS, Q4 2022 Current Developments – Canadian Securities and Q4 2022 US Quarterly Outlook publications for more details
2. Refer to our publication ESG in Europe – Requirements covering non-EU companies formally adopted

The Sustainability reporting journey: Regulatory update

• Proposals published in March 2022 include 
IFRS S1 – general requirements for 
disclosure of sustainability-related financial 
information and IFRS S2 – climate-related 
disclosures, which would require investor-
focused information on all sustainability-
related risks and opportunities that the 
company is exposed to

• Applicability will be determined by national 
jurisdictions

• The ISSB has been actively redeliberating its 
two proposals with goal of finalizing as early 
as possible in 2023 

• Some of the key items discussed at recent 
meetings include: keeping Scope 3 
emissions disclosures in the final standards, 
requirement to report at the same time as 
financial statements, and maintaining the 
concept of investor materiality 

• Proposals published in April 2022 would 
require companies to report information to 
meet the needs of all stakeholders across a 
range of sustainability topics specified in the 
CSRD

• In November, the European Parliament and 
European Council approved and adopted the 
CSRD, which amends and significantly 
expands the existing EU requirements for 
sustainability reporting 

• In December, the CSRD was published in the 
Office Journal of the EU and will enter into 
force in early 2023. Member states will then 
have 18 months to transpose it into national 
law, and may make revisions as part of that 
process

• Notwithstanding that the CSRD is an EU 
Directive, there are considerable ESG 
reporting implications for non-EU based 
companies2

• Proposal published in March 2022 would 
require investor-focused climate disclosures

• Due to a technological error, the SEC 
reopened the comment period through 
November 1 for its proposed climate rules 
and its proposed ESG rules for investment 
companies and advisers (along with other 
proposed rules) 

• The SEC expects to release its final climate 
rules in April 2023

• The SEC’s recent agenda also includes 
looking at disclosure rules on human capital 
management, with a proposal expected to 
be released in April 2023

• Proposal published in October 2021 
would require investor-focused climate 
disclosures

• In October 2022, the CSA stated that 
it continues to actively consider 
international developments and how 
they may impact or inform its 
proposed climate-related disclosure 
rule

International (ISSB) EU (EFRAG) US (SEC) Canada (CSA)

R
ec

en
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1

What about the CSSB?

• The Canadian Sustainability Standards 
Board (CSSB) is in the early stages of 
development and aims to be operational 
by April 2023 

• In December, the CSSB was appointed 
an inaugural member of the SSAF, 
which will work with the ISSB towards a 
comprehensive global baseline of 
sustainability-related disclosure for 
capital markets 
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Appendix E: Audit and assurance insights

KPMG Audit & Assurance Insights
Curated research and insights for audit 

committees and boards.

Board Leadership Centre
Leading insights to help board members 

maximize boardroom opportunities

Current Developments
Series of quarterly publications for Canadian 

businesses including Spotlight on IFRS, Canadian 
Securities & Auditing Matters and US Outlook reports.

Audit Committee Guide – Canadian Edition
A practical guide providing insight into current 

challenges and leading practices shaping audit 
committee effectiveness in Canada.

Accelerate 2023
The key issues driving the audit committee 
agenda in 2023.

Momentum
A quarterly newsletter with the latest thought-leadership 
from KPMG's subject matter leaders across Canada 
and valuable audit resources for clients.

KPMG Climate Change Financial 
Reporting Resource Centre
Our climate change resource centre provides 
insights to help you identify the potential financial 
statement impacts to your business.

IFRS Breaking News 
A monthly Canadian newsletter that provides the latest 
insights on international financial reporting standards 
and IASB activities. 

Our latest thinking on the issues that matter most to Audit Committees, board of directors and management.
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Office of the Commissioner 

Community and Health Services Department 

MEMORANDUM  

To: Members of Audit Committee  

From: Katherine Chislett 

Commissioner of Community and Health Services 

Date:   May 23, 2023 

Re: Implementation of Audit Recommendation Requirement to update the 
Public Health Branch Sexual Health Clinics community needs assessment  

 

Implementation of Audit Recommendation will be completed by Q4 2024  

This memo is required because implementation of the Audit Recommendation to update the 

Public Health Branch Sexual Health Clinics community needs assessment is delayed by more 

than two years from the original due date. 

Public Health anticipated updating the Sexual Health Clinics community needs 
assessment in Q4 2020  

In 2019, the Audit Services Branch conducted an audit of Community and Health Services, 

Public Health, Sexual Health Clinics program. In a May 2019 report, the Audit Services Branch 

recommended the Sexual Health Clinic program: 

 Consider the use of an external resource to either prepare all needs assessments or, at 

a minimum, to review all needs assessments prepared internally 

 Determine the frequency and need for the community needs assessment. Consider 

updating the needs assessment every four years in line with term of Council 

 Ensure the information included in the needs assessment is current and relevant 

 Ensure all information contained in the needs assessment is directly tied to and 

supported by the survey results 
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This audit resulted in a report presented to the Audit Committee in January 2020. The Public 

Health Branch committed to complete these recommendations by the end of Q4 2020. 

Updating the Sexual Health Clinic community needs assessment was delayed due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic response  

To respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, Public Health opened a Health Emergency Operation 

Centre in January 2020. During Q1 of 2020 most public health programs and services were 

paused or ceased to dedicate staffing resources to the emergency response. This resulted in 

sexual health staffing, programs, services, and management support being limited during the 

period of the response. Due to this limited program capacity, Public Health had to postpone 

updating the clinics community needs assessment. 

A community needs assessment plan was initiated in Q2 2022 with further 
assessment plans to be completed in Q2 2024 

In Q1 2022, staff and management gradually returned to the program from the emergency 

response. A community needs assessment plan, including the consideration of updating an 

assessment every four years, was initiated in Q2 2022.  

Despite the workload impacts of COVID, staff have been working on the assessment. Initial 

work was completed in Q1 by staff, which will be enhanced through engagement of a third party 

as recommended, and additional stakeholder involvement. The target date for a new needs 

assessment is mid 2024. 

 

Katherine Chislett 

Commissioner of Community and Health Services  

 

 

 

 

Bruce Macgregor 

Chief Administrative Officer 

 

15168532 
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The Regional Municipality of York 

Audit Committee 

Finance and Administration 

June 8, 2023 

 

Report of the Commissioner of Finance 

2022 Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report 

1. Recommendation 

Council receive this report for information. 

2. Summary 

This report provides information to Council on the 2022 financial activities of the Region, as 

required by the Municipal Act, 2001. 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial activities of the Region and all 

entities that are accountable to and controlled by the Region, including the York Region 

Police Services Board, Housing York Inc., York Region Rapid Transit Corporation, and YTN 

Telecom Network Inc.  

Key Points:  

 The Region achieved an operating surplus of $78 million in 2022.  After adjustments 

for reserves, debt and capital assets, the annual surplus for financial statement 

purposes was $688 million  

 The Region continued to save for future needs, including asset management by 

adding $553 million to reserves, increasing the balance to $4.8 billion by the end of 

2022 

 The audit opinion on the 2022 financial statements was issued without reservation or 

condition 

 The Region received the Canadian Award of Excellence in Financial Reporting 

(CAnFR) and the Popular Annual Financial Reporting (PAFR) Award for the 2021 

Annual Community Report and Highlights Report  

3. Background  

Municipalities are required to prepare financial statements and report them to 
Council 

Under the Municipal Act, 2001, municipalities must:  
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1. Prepare financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles 

2. Report the financial affairs of the municipality to Council 

3. Appoint a licensed auditor who is responsible for auditing the accounts and 

transactions of the municipality 

The consolidated financial statements are presented on a full accrual basis of 
accounting  

On April 13, 2023, Council received the 2022 Financial Results – Unaudited Budget to Actual 

Comparison. This report was prepared on a modified accrual basis of accounting, the same 

method used to prepare the Region’s Budget. The budget balances major cash inflows 

against major cash outflows, with the property tax levy as the main lever to achieve the 

balance. 

In comparison, the consolidated financial statements, as shown in Attachment 1, are 

presented on a full accrual basis of accounting as the province requires municipalities to 

follow the accounting standards set by the Public Sector Accounting Board. 

The differences between the two bases of accounting mainly relate to the treatment of 

reserves, debt and capital assets. 

4. Analysis 

The Region achieved an annual surplus of $688 million for accounting purposes 
in 2022  

On a modified basis of accounting, net operating expenditures were 93.8% of the 2022 

budget at year-end, representing an operating surplus of $78 million. 

By comparison, the 2022 annual surplus was $688 million after adjusting for net contributions 

to the Region’s reserves ($553 million), investments in capital assets ($96 million) and 

investments in Regional Corporations ($39 million).  

The Treasurer’s Report analyzes key financial results from the consolidated 
financial statements  

The 2022 results compared favourably to the budget and detailed variance analyses and 

discussion can be found in the Treasurer’s Report (Attachment 2). The Treasurer’s Report 

focuses on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus.   
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The Region continues to build a strong balance sheet through its commitment to 
the Regional Fiscal Strategy  

Financial assets are assets that can be converted to cash in a short time. The Region’s 

financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable from 

third parties, and debt recoverable from local municipalities. 

These assets totalled $6.4 billion at the end of 2022, up by $689 million from the previous 

year, largely reflecting the Region’s strong operating performance for the year and its 

commitment to reducing reliance on debt and building reserves through the Regional Fiscal 

Strategy. 

The Region’s liabilities include gross long-term liabilities or debt, accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities, deferred revenue and employee benefit obligations. Liabilities other than 

debt increased by $201 million, ending the year at $2.1 billion.  

Total debt, which is reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as gross 

long-term liabilities, decreased by $19 million to total $3.6 billion by the end of 2022.  

In summary, the Region’s net financial assets increased by $507 million, ending the year at 

$809 million.   

The Region received two Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) 
awards for excellence in financial reporting  

The GFOA is a professional association serving more than 20,000 government finance 

professionals throughout North America.  Its mandate includes promoting transparency, 

accessibility, and understandability of financial reporting.   

For the 25th consecutive year, the Region’s 2021 Community Report received the Canadian 

Award of Excellence in Financial Reporting (CAnFR).  This award recognized the Region for 

easily readable and efficiently organized financial reports, and content conforming to 

reporting standards and GFOA guidelines. 

The Region also received the Popular Annual Financial Reporting (PAFR) Award for the 

2021 Annual Community Report Highlights.  This summary report further promotes 

transparency and citizen engagement, particularly for members of the public who may not 

have a background in finance. 

5. Financial 

Regional Council directed $14 million of the $78 million 2022 operating surplus to support 

critical social infrastructure, as outlined on April 13, 2023. The remainder of the operating 

surplus was distributed in accordance with the Region’s Surplus Management Policy. The 

finalization of the audited financial statements did not change the operating surplus, or the 

distribution presented in April.  
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6. Local Impact 

There are no local municipal impacts associated with this report.  

7. Conclusion 

The 2022 consolidated financial statements reflect the financial results and position of the 

Region, and are presented in accordance with the Municipal Act, 2001 and Public Sector 

Accounting Standards.  

 

For more information on this report, please contact Jason Li, Director, Controllership Office, 

Finance at 1-877-464-9675 ext. 71683. Accessible formats or communication supports are 

available upon request.    

  

Recommended by: Laura Mirabella 

Commissioner of Finance and Regional Treasurer  

    
Approved for Submission: Bruce Macgregor 

 Chief Administrative Officer 

 

May 25, 2023 

 

Attachment 1 – 2022 Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report  

Attachment 2 – 2022 Treasurer’s Report 

 

15152129 
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KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent  
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

KPMG LLP 
Vaughan Metropolitan Centre 
100 New Park Place, Suite 1400 
Vaughan ON  L4K 0J3 
Canada 
Tel 905-265-5900 
Fax 905-265-6390 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Regional Municipality of York 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Regional Municipality of 
York (the Entity), which comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022

 the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year
then ended

 the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then
ended

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2022, 
and its consolidated results of operations, its consolidated changes in net financial 
assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of 
our auditor's report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. 

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal
control.
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.  However, future events
or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on
the financial statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Vaughan, Canada 

April 25, 2023 
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2022

2022

$

2021

$

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 807,414,018 1,801,084,445

Accounts receivable (Note 5) 462,161,268 427,956,752

Investments (Note 4) 5,010,725,424 3,354,679,653

Debt amounts recoverable from local municipalities (Note 8) 137,244,751 144,667,716

Total 6,417,545,461 5,728,388,566

Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 885,559,546 867,751,439

Employee benefits obligations (Note 6) 344,007,788 313,607,453

Deferred revenue-general (Note 7) 102,372,694 96,673,938

Deferred revenue-obligatory reserve funds (Note 7) 726,999,233 580,309,287

Gross long-term liabilities (Note 8) 3,550,073,706 3,568,618,052

Total 5,609,012,967 5,426,960,169

Net financial assets 808,532,494 301,428,397

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 14) 9,148,461,162 8,972,426,338

Inventory 9,227,041 9,332,545

Prepaid expenses 21,169,165 16,454,942

Total 9,178,857,368 8,998,213,825

Contractual rights and contingent assets (Note 9)

Contractual obligations and commitments (Note 10)

Contingent liabilities (Note 11)

Accumulated surplus (Note 15) 9,987,389,862  9,299,642,222

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK 

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
Year ended December 31, 2022

Budget 
(Note 2)

$

2022

$

2021

$

Revenues

Net taxation (Note 3) 1,284,179,910 1,281,693,565 1,232,742,032

Government transfers 649,721,113 721,406,437 694,158,339

Development charges 593,634,041 433,871,575 370,752,206

User charges 376,034,053 387,759,922 378,003,651

Fees and services 126,355,792 150,557,348 117,240,452

Investment income 93,007,598 124,954,639 115,144,705

Other 59,226,770 35,209,269 62,431,333

Total Revenues 3,182,159,277 3,135,452,755 2,970,472,718

Expenses

Transportation services 537,666,182 510,647,764 477,337,016

Environmental services 532,090,248 486,801,880 485,144,440

Community services 417,493,297 484,728,551 384,763,952

Protection to persons and property 455,242,752 451,155,142 436,470,673

Health and emergency services 240,602,902 254,638,010 259,550,562

General government 153,055,578 137,856,492 145,078,142

Social housing 90,503,729 105,926,785 95,949,346

Planning and economic development 16,793,595 15,950,491 15,383,315

Total Expenses 2,443,448,283 2,447,705,115 2,299,677,446

Annual surplus 738,710,994 687,747,640 670,795,272

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 9,299,642,222 9,299,642,222 8,628,846,950

Accumulated surplus, end of year 10,038,353,216 9,987,389,862 9,299,642,222

Segment information is presented in Note 16.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK 

Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
Year ended December 31, 2022

Budget 

$

2022

$

2021

$

Annual surplus 738,710,994 687,747,640 670,795,272

Amortization of tangible capital assets 341,005,715 337,000,294 324,055,705

Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 3,984,750 7,591,021

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (839,605,198) (518,395,440) (506,260,106)

Contributed assets - (52,000) -

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 1,427,572 20,121

Change in inventory - 105,504 (1,957,484)

Change in prepaid expenses - (4,714,223) (1,435,532)

Increase in net financial assets 240,111,511 507,104,097 492,808,997

Net financial assets / (Net debt), Beginning of year 301,428,397 301,428,397 (191,380,600)

Net financial assets, End of year 541,539,908 808,532,494 301,428,397

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2022

2022

$

2021

$

Operating

Annual surplus 687,747,640 670,795,272

Items not involving cash:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 337,000,294 324,055,705

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 1,427,572 20,121

Contributed tangible capital assets (52,000) -

Changes in non-cash assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (34,204,516) 5,176,043

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,808,107 38,378,138

Employee benefit obligations 30,400,335 36,536,308

Deferred revenue-general 5,698,756 (11,995,531)

Deferred revenue-obligatory reserve funds 146,689,946 110,677,480

Inventory 105,504 (1,957,484)

Prepaid expenses (4,714,223) (1,435,532)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents from operations 1,187,907,415 1,170,250,520

Capital

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (518,395,440) (506,260,106)

Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 3,984,750 7,591,021

Net change in cash and cash equivalents from capital (514,410,690) (498,669,085)

Investing

Net change in investments (1,656,045,771) 81,018,834

 Financing

Long-term debt issued - 300,000,000

Long-term debt repaid (11,121,381) (462,106,672)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents from financing (11,121,381) (162,106,672)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (993,670,427) 590,493,597

Opening, cash and cash equivalents 1,801,084,445 1,210,590,848

Closing, cash and cash equivalents 807,414,018  1,801,084,445

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022

The Corporation of the Regional Municipality of York (the “Region”) was incorporated as a municipality in 1971 by the Province of Ontario. The local 
municipalities within the regional boundaries include the towns of Aurora, East Gwillimbury, Georgina, Newmarket, Whitchurch-Stouffville, the Township of 
King, the City of Markham, the City of Richmond Hill and the City of Vaughan.

1)	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the Region were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) established by 
the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (CPA Canada).

a) Basis of Consolidation

i.	 The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses in the operating fund, capital fund and reserves 
and reserve funds of the Region and all entities which are accountable to and controlled by the Region. Consolidated entities include all 
committees of Council, York Region Police Services Board, Housing York Inc., York Region Rapid Transit Corporation (YRRTC) and YTN Telecom 
Network Inc. (YorkNet). All governmental balances and transactions were eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

ii.	 The financial activities of the Sinking Fund are disclosed separately in the Sinking Fund Statement of Financial Position, and Statement of 
Financial Activities and Change in Fund Balance.

iii.	 Funds held in trust by the Region for the residents of Newmarket Health Centre and Maple Health Centre and their operations are not 
included in the consolidated financial statements. The financial activities and position of the trust funds and donations received on behalf of 
the Centres are reported separately in the Residents’ Trust Funds and Donation Account Statement of Financial Position, and Statement of 
Financial Activities.

b) Basis of Accounting

i.	 Accrual Basis of Accounting
The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting records revenue as 
it is earned and measurable. Expenses are the cost of goods or services acquired in the period, whether or not payment has been made or 
invoices received.

ii.	 Revenues
Property tax revenue is recognized on an accrual basis when it meets the definition of an asset, the tax is authorized by the passing of the 
tax levy by-law and the taxable event has occurred. Supplementary and omitted taxes are recognized when additional billings are issued 
according to Regional Council approved tax rate for properties that are added to the assessment roll during the year. Assessments and the 
related property taxes are subject to appeal. Tax adjustments as a result of appeals and tax write-offs such as tax rebates are recorded in the 
Region’s Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus when the result of the appeal process is known.

Development charges are rates levied based on type of new development, whether residential or non-residential. Rates are set by Regional 
Council from time to time through a Development Charges bylaw (to a maximum of 5 years). Development charges are collected under the 
authority of Sections 33 to 37 of the Development Charges Act, 1997, when the building permit is issued and reported as deferred revenue in 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Revenues are recognized when amounts are used to fund the growth-related portion of the 
qualifying capital projects.

User charges are recognized as they are earned and measurable.

Fees and services are fees associated with services provided (including transit fare, charges for long-term care home residency, paid duty 
police services, sales of recycled materials, etc.). Revenues are recognized when the activity is performed and when the services are rendered.

Other revenues consist of third party funding and other recoveries including capital recovery are recorded when they are earned and 
measurable.

iii.	 Government Transfers
Government transfer revenues are recognized in the period in which the events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are 
authorized, any eligibility criteria and stipulations have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made. These consist of 
grants and subsidies from senior levels of government for various operating and capital programs.

iv.	 Expenses
Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and/or the creation of a legal 
obligation to pay. Interest expense is recognized as incurred. Expenses paid in the current period attributable to future benefits received are 
classified as prepaid expenses in the Region’s non-financial assets.

Government transfer payments to other public sector entities are recognized in the year that the transfer is authorized, and all eligibility 
criteria have been met by the recipient. Any transfers paid in advance are deemed to have met all eligibility criteria.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022

v. Assets
Assets are economic resources controlled by the Region as a result of past transactions or events and from which future economic benefits are 
expected to be obtained. For the year ended December 31, 2022, all material assets have been disclosed and reported within the Region’s 
Statements.

vi.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of 90 days or less after year end.

vii.	 Investments
Investment income earned on surplus current funds and reserve funds is recognized as revenue in the period earned. Investment income 
earned on obligatory reserve funds is credited to the funds and forms part of the respective deferred revenue balances.

Investments are carried at the lower of cost and amortized cost. Any discount or premium is amortized over the remaining term of the 
investments. When there has been a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline in value, the respective investment is written down 
to recognize the loss.

viii.	 Loans Receivable
Loans receivable are recorded at the lower of amortized cost and the net recoverable value, when collectability and risk of loss exist. Changes 
in the valuation of loans are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. Interest is accrued on loans 
receivable to the extent it is deemed collectable.

ix.	 Non-Financial Assets
Non-financial assets are used to provide Region services and are not available to discharge existing liabilities. These assets have useful lives 
extending beyond the current year and generally are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.

x.	 Tangible Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets are non-financial assets recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, development or betterment of assets and may include payments made under cost-sharing arrangements. The cost of the 
tangible capital assets, less estimated residual value, is amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives in number of years 
as follows:

Asset Useful life (in years)

Land Infinite

Land improvements 20-50

Buildings 10-60

Equipment and machinery 2-50

Vehicles 2-20

Transit infrastructure 5-50

Roads infrastructure 15-120

Water and wastewater infrastructure 50-110

The Region owns land that has been recorded at nominal value. The majority of this acreage is part of York Regional Forest.

Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at their fair value at date of receipt and are recorded as revenue.

Interest on debt incurred during the construction of related tangible capital assets is expensed in the Consolidated Statement of Operations 
and Accumulated Surplus.

Assets under construction represents expenditures incurred for projects currently underway. Upon completion, the relating assets under 
construction will be transferred to the appropriate capital asset category and amortization will commence.

xi.	 Inventory
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

xii.	 Contractual Rights and Obligations
Contractual rights reflect future rights to economic resources arising from contracts and/or agreements that will result in both an asset and 
revenue in future fiscal periods. For further details regarding the Region’s contractual rights, please refer to Note 9 (a).

Contractual obligations represent obligations, which will result in liabilities upon the completion of agreed upon terms specified in contracts 
and/or agreements in future fiscal periods. For further details regarding the Region’s contractual obligations, including the nature, extent and 
timing of these types of transactions, please refer to Note 10.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022

xiii.	 Contingent Assets and Liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities arise from circumstances when the Region is uncertain whether it has an asset and/or liability 
on the date of the Statements. The existence of the asset and/or liability is ultimately dependent upon the occurrence or nonoccurrence of a 
future event that is outside of the Region’s control.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Region is not aware of any contingent assets. However, disclosure regarding the Region’s 
contingent liabilities, including the nature, extent and estimated amount can be found in Note 11.

xiv.	 Deferred Revenue - General
Funds received in advance to conduct certain programs, or in the completion of specific work pursuant to legislation, regulation or agreement 
are recorded as deferred revenue. Deferred revenue also includes user charges and fees collected for services not yet rendered.

Revenue is recognized in the fiscal period in which the related expenses are incurred or services are performed.

xv.	 Deferred Revenue - Obligatory Reserve Funds
Development charges, collected and accrued under the authority of Section 33 to 37 of the Development Charges Act, 1997 are recorded as 
Deferred Revenue - Obligatory Reserve Funds. Accrued development charges are supported by deferral agreements which are financing 
arrangements secured by letters of credit, certified cheques or titles to property.

Gas tax revenues received under municipal funding agreements, are recorded as Deferred Revenue - Obligatory Reserve Funds.

Revenue is recognized in the fiscal period in which the related expenses are incurred or services are performed.

xvi.	 Employee Benefits Obligation
The cost of employee benefits is recognized when entitlements are earned or the event that obligates the Region occurs. Costs include 
projected future payments, health care continuation costs and fees paid to independent administrators of these plans, calculated on a 
present value basis.

Employee benefit liabilities are based on actuarial valuations using the projected benefit method, prorated on service and management’s 
best estimate of salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and expected health costs. Actuarial valuations, where necessary for 
accounting purposes, are performed triennially.

The discount rate used to determine the accrued benefit obligation was determined by reference to market interest rates at the measurement 
date with cash flows that match the timing and amount of expected benefit payments. Unamortized actuarial gains or losses are amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee groups. Unamortized actuarial gains/losses 
for event-triggered liabilities, such as those determined as claims related to Workers Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) are amortized over 
the average expected period during which the benefits will be paid. The cost of plan amendments is accounted for in the period they are 
adopted.

Where applicable, the Region has set aside reserve funds intended to fund these obligations, either in full or in part. These reserve funds 
were created under municipal by-law and do not meet the definition of a plan asset under PS3250 Retirement Benefits. Therefore, for the 
purpose of these financial statements the plans are considered unfunded.

xvii.	Liabilities for Contaminated Sites
PS3260 Liability for Contaminated Sites requires the recognition of a liability for the remediation of contaminated sites in the financial 
statements when the recognition criteria outlined in the standard are met.

xviii.	Reserves and Reserve Funds
Reserves are an appropriation from net revenue at the discretion of Council. Reserve funds are set aside by legislation, regulation or 
agreement. For financial reporting purposes, some reserve funds are reported as deferred revenue on the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position. Other reserve funds and reserves are balances within the accumulated surplus.

xix.	 Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Items 
requiring the use of estimates include the useful life of capital assets, future employee benefits, and claims provisions.

Estimates are based on the best information available to management at the time of preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and are reviewed annually to reflect new information as it becomes available. Measurement uncertainty exists in these consolidated financial 
statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022

xx.	 Segment Disclosure
A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for which it is appropriate to separately report 
financial information to achieve the objectives of the standard. The segment information is guided by PS2700. For additional information, 
see Note 16.

Certain allocation methodologies are employed in the preparation of the segmented financial information. Taxation and payments-in-
lieu of taxes are allocated to the segments based on the segment’s budgeted net expenditure. Transfer payments were allocated to the 
segment based upon the purpose for which the transfer was made. Development contributions were allocated to the segment for which the 
contribution was received.

xxi.	 Future Accounting Pronouncements
While the timing of standard adoption can vary, certain standards must be adopted concurrently. The requirements in PS 1201 - Financial 
Statement Presentation, PS 3450 - Financial Instruments, PS 2601 - Foreign Currency Translation, and PS 3041 – Portfolio Investments, must 
be implemented at the same time. The Region has not adopted any new accounting standards for the year ended on December 31, 2022.

(i)	 Standards applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2022 (in effect for the Region for the year ending on December 31, 2023):

PS 1201 - Financial Statement Presentation, replaces PS 1200 - Financial Statement Presentation. This standard establishes general 
reporting principles and standards for the disclosure of information in government financial statements. The standard introduces the 
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses separate from the Statement of Operations. The new statement reports the changes in 
the values of financial assets and financial liabilities arising from their remeasurement at current exchange rates and/or fair value, and the 
government’s proportionate share of other comprehensive income arising from the results of Government Business Enterprise (“GBEs”) and 
partnerships.

PS 2601 - Foreign Currency Translation, replaces PS 2600 - Foreign Currency Translation. The standard requires monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and non-monetary items denominated in a foreign currency that are reported at fair value, 
to be adjusted to reflect the exchange rates in effect at the consolidated financial statement date. Unrealized gains and losses arising 
from foreign currency changes are presented in the new Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. However, the new standard also 
provides an election that will allow for the continued recognition of all exchange gains and losses directly in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations and Accumulated Surplus.

PS 3041 - Portfolio Investments, replaces PS 3040 - Portfolio Investments. The standard provides revised guidance on accounting for, and 
presentation and disclosure of portfolio investments to conform to PS 3450 - Financial Instruments. The distinction between temporary 
and portfolio investments has been removed in the new standard, and upon adoption, PS 3030 - Temporary Investments, will no longer 
apply.

PS 3280 - Asset Retirement Obligations, establishes the accounting and reporting requirements for legal obligations associated with the 
retirement of Tangible Capital Asset (“TCA”) controlled by a government or government organization. A liability for a retirement obligation 
can apply to TCA either in productive use or no longer in productive use. Upon adoption of this standard, PS 3270 - Solid Waste Landfill 
Closure and Post-closure Liability, will no longer apply.

PS 3450 - Financial Instruments, establishes accounting and reporting requirements for all types of financial instruments including 
derivatives. The standard requires fair value measurement of derivatives and portfolio investments in equity instruments that are quoted 
in an active market. All other financial instruments can be elected to be measured at cost, amortized cost or fair value. Unrealized gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value are presented in the new Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses.

(ii)	 Standards applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2023 (in effect for the Region for the year ending on December 31, 2024):

PS 3160 - Public Private Partnerships (“P3s”), identifies requirements on how to account for and disclose transactions in which public 
sector entities procure major infrastructure assets and/or services from private sector entities. Recognition of assets arising from P3 
arrangements is ultimately dependent on whether public sector entities control the purpose and use of the assets, access to the future 
economic benefits and exposure to the risks associated with the assets, and significant residual interest in the asset, if any, at the end of 
the term of P3s. Measurement of the asset and related liability will also be dependent on the overall model used to compensate the private
sector entity.

PS 3400 - Revenue, establishes standards on how to account for and report on revenue, specifically differentiating between revenue 
arising from transactions that include performance obligations, referred to as exchange transactions, and transactions that do not have 
performance obligations, referred to as non-exchange transactions.

PSG-8 - Purchased Intangibles, provides guidelines on accounting and reporting for purchased intangibles. Concurrently, PS 1000 - 
Financial Statement Concepts, has been amended to remove the prohibition against recognizing intangibles purchased in an exchange 
transaction in public sector financial statements.
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2)	 BUDGET FIGURES

Budget figures presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements are based on the 2022 budget approved by York Regional Council on December 16, 
2021. In the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus, some accrual budget numbers have been reallocated for comparability purposes. The 
following table reconciles the approved budget with the budget figures as presented in these consolidated financial statements using the accrual basis 
of accounting.

Revenues

Approved budget $ 3,661,447,708

Reclassification of investment income 86,171,753

Transfer from reserves (614,594,166)

Funding from Metrolinx 34,659,858

Housing York Inc. 45,005,981

Related entities adjustments (30,531,857)

Total revenues 3,182,159,277

Expenses

Approved budget 3,661,447,708

Reclassification of investment income 86,171,753

Transfer to reserves (647,655,464)

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (839,605,198)

Debt principal repayments (197,324,820)

Amortization 341,005,715

Post employment benefits 31,054,608

Spending funded by Metrolinx 1,429,051

Housing York Inc. 37,456,787

Related entities adjustments (30,531,857)

Total expenses 2,443,448,283

Annual surplus $ 738,710,994

3) TAX REVENUE

Tax revenue of $1,281,693,565 (2021 - $1,232,742,032) is comprised of $1,272,994,934 (2021 - $1,219,091,916) in general tax levy and $8,698,631 
(2021 - $13,650,116) of other tax amounts.

4) INVESTMENTS

Included in cash and cash equivalents are short-term investments of $80,000,030 (2021 - $41,139,000) with a market value of $80,000,030 
(2021 - $41,153,489). Investments of $5,010,725,424 (2021 - $3,354,679,653) have a market value of $4,629,069,730 (2021 - $3,370,153,216).

As at December 31, 2022, the Region’s investments measured at amortized cost exceed the market value, representing a temporary decline in 
value. No impairment is recognized due to the investment’s low-risk nature, the issuers’ high credit ratings, and the Region’s intention to hold these 
investments to their maturities. The Region monitors the investment portfolio in accordance with its Investment Policy and has mitigation strategies 
to address possible impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents and investments include $726,999,233 (2021 - $580,309,287) of restricted funds as required under legislation to fund 
obligatory reserve funds. The yields on investments held range from 0.59% to 5.95% (2021 - 0.31% to 3.71%).
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5) ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable is comprised of the following:

2022
$

2021
$

Government of Canada 48,167,640 66,937,661

Government of Ontario 28,072,997 16,289,924

Other municipalities 150,549,218 155,721,898

Other receivables 235,433,176 189,007,269

462,223,031 427,956,752

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (61,763) -

462,161,268 427,956,752

Accounts receivable are assessed for collectability on an annual basis. In 2022, $134,650 was deemed uncollectable and written off (2021 - $31,682).

6) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS

The amounts represent liabilities established for accrual accounting purposes expected to be settled in future periods. In some cases, reserves have 
been established to fund these amounts. In other cases, the liabilities are to be funded from future years’ budgetary allocations. Net increase in the 
total amount is $30,400,335.

2022
$

2021
$

Post employment benefits (a) 123,410,114 113,756,202

Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) (c) 79,447,159 65,569,843

Long-term disability claims (d) 66,476,667 60,543,718

Vested sick leave benefits (e) 44,782,662 42,848,187

Vacation payable 29,891,186 30,889,503

344,007,788 313,607,453
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The following table sets out the accrued benefit liability for each plan as at December 31, 2022.

Post employment 
benefits

$
WSIB

$

Long-term 
disability claims

$

Vested sick
leave benefits

$
Total

$

Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year 113,756,202 65,569,843 60,543,718 42,848,187 282,717,950

Current service cost & prior period cost amendment 7,390,673 15,126,586 10,420,722 3,606,629 36,544,610

Amortization of loss 2,701,361 5,521,081 1,718,797 573,805 10,515,044

Interest cost 4,543,484 3,758,818 2,338,979 1,294,013 11,935,294

Benefit payments (4,981,606) (10,529,169) (8,545,549) (3,539,972) (27,596,296)

Accrued benefit liability, end of year 123,410,114 79,447,159 66,476,667 44,782,662 314,116,602

Unamortized actuarial (gain)/loss 1,047,957 34,498,715 (23,288,384) (8,610,568) 3,647,720

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 124,458,071 113,945,874 43,188,283 36,172,094 317,764,322

The amortization of actuarial losses for the current year is in the amount of $10,515,044 (2021 - $12,756,529).

Post 
employment 

benefits
WSIB

Long-term 
disability

Vested 
sick leave 
benefits

Expected inflation rate 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Expected level of salary increases 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Interest discount rate 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%

Future health care cost rate 6.00% 4.00% N/A 6.00%

Expected Average Remaining Service Life

       Regional Operations 14 10 8 6

Police Services 13 10 8 13

a) Post-Employment Benefits

Employees who retire under OMERS pension plan at age fifty or greater with a minimum of twenty years of service with the Region, are 
entitled to continued coverage for extended health and dental benefits until age of 65. Those retirees from age 65 to age 75 are eligible to 
receive a health care spending account.

An independent actuarial valuation dated January 25, 2023 estimates the liability of these benefits to be $123,410,114 (2021 - $113,756,202), 
which is reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The reserve balance at December 31, 2022 is $74,880,157 (2021 - 
$52,231,057).

b) Pension Agreement

The Region contributes to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS), a multi- employer plan on behalf of approximately 
6,891 members of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit plan and specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the 
employees based on length of credited service and average earnings.

In 2022, employer contribution amounts to $70,341,713 (2021 - $67,895,089) and is recorded as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations and Accumulated Surplus. Employee contributions also amount to $70,341,713 (2021 - $67,895,089).

Because OMERS is a multi-employer plan, the Region does not recognize any share of the pension deficit of $6.7 billion at December 31, 2022.

c) Workplace Safety and Insurance Board

Under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, the Region is a self-insured employer (Schedule II) for all of its employees.

An independent actuarial valuation dated January 25, 2023 estimates the liability for all claims incurred to December 31, 2022 to be 
$79,447,159 (2021 - $65,569,843), which is reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The worker’s compensation reserve 
balance at December 31, 2022 is $79,409,680 (2021 - $65,569,843).
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d) Long-Term Disability Claims

In October 2002, the Region adopted a self-insured arrangement for its long-term disability benefit program. Under this arrangement, the 
Region funds its own claims through a segregated reserve and contracts with an insurance carrier to adjudicate and administer all claims on an 
Administrative Services Only basis. An independent actuarial valuation dated January 25, 2023 estimates the liability for the claims incurred 
to be $66,476,667 (2021 - $60,543,718) as at December 31, 2022, which is reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The 
reserve balance at December 31, 2022 is $66,466,525 (2021 - $60,543,718).

e) Liability for Vested Sick Leave Benefits

An independent actuarial valuation report dated January 25, 2023 estimates the liability for both Regional operations and Police Services 
at $44,782,662 (2021 - $42,848,187), which is reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The reserve balance at 
December 31, 2022 is $7,930,576 (2021 - $8,496,227).

Regional Operations

Commencing in 2000, the accumulated sick leave plan was replaced by a Short-term Disability plan for employees in Regional Operations. 
The estimated actuarial value of the assets is $23,040 (2021 - $4,817).

Police Services

For Police Services members hired before July 22, 2013, the sick leave benefit plan provides for an accumulative unused sick leave bank. After 
five years of service, members are entitled to a cash payment of one-half of the sick bank balance to a maximum of six months salary when 
they leave the municipality’s employ. Members were also provided with an election to opt for a cash settlement of one-half of their sick bank 
hours up to a maximum of six months’ salary on February 17, 2017. Members hired after July 22, 2013 and members who have elected the 
cash settlement are enrolled in an accumulative unused sick leave plan without a cash payment.

The actuarial liability for the accumulated days to the extent that they have vested and could be taken in cash by an employee on termination 
amounted to $44,805,702 (2021 - $42,853,004).

7) DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue set aside for specific purposes by legislation, regulation, or agreements is comprised of:

Balance at 
December 31, 2021

$

Inflows
$

Amounts recognized 
into revenue

$

Balance at
December 31, 2022

$

Deferred capital grants 27,894,880 34,985,978 (33,741,191) 29,139,667

Security deposits and agreements 50,981,343 2,787,853 (18,842) 53,750,354

Other* 17,797,715 11,914,975 (10,230,017) 19,482,673

Total deferred revenue - general 96,673,938 49,688,806 (43,990,050) 102,372,694

Development charges 469,789,083 578,827,324 (433,871,575) 614,744,832

Gas Tax/Canada Community-Building Fund 110,520,204 55,230,099 (53,495,902) 112,254,401

Total deferred revenue - obligatory 
reserve funds 580,309,287 634,057,423 (487,367,477) 726,999,233

*Other deferred revenue includes funding for affordable social housing programs.
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8)	 LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The use of long-term liabilities to finance capital expenses is governed by Provincial legislation. Provincial legislation gives York Region authority to 
issue long-term debt for both York Region and Local Municipalities. The debentures issued for such purpose are direct, joint and several obligations 
of the York Region and all its local municipalities.

a) Long-term liabilities are comprised of the following items:

2022
$

2021
$

Outstanding long-term liabilities at the end of the year, including those incurred 
on behalf of local municipalities 2,444,039,520 2,677,344,265

Sinking fund debenture 1,078,205,363 857,303,321

Mortgages payable by Housing York Inc. 27,828,823 33,970,466

Gross long-term liabilities 3,550,073,706 3,568,618,052

Less recoverable from local municipalities

Sinking fund debentures 28,100,000 28,100,000

Non-sinking fund debentures 109,144,751 116,567,716

137,244,751 144,667,716

Net long-term liabilities at the end of the year $ 3,412,828,955 3,423,950,336

The total gross amount of the long-term liabilities to be retired by sinking funds is $2,301,794,712 (2021 - $2,522,696,755). The amount 
of sinking fund assets is $1,078,205,363 (2021 - $857,303,321). Long- term liabilities are financed through a combination of development 
charges, water and sewer rates and tax levy.

Interest rates and maturity dates for the debts range from 1.70% to 5.72% and from May 2023 to December 2051.

b) Net long-term liabilities are repayable as follows:

2023 203,307,040

2024 204,632,269

2025 205,531,440

2026 195,386,416

2027 188,281,835

Thereafter 2,041,874,129

Net sinking fund debt repayable according to actuarial 
recommendations 373,815,826

Total $ 3,412,828,955

c) Charges for net long-term liabilities

Total interest charges for the year for net long-term liabilities which are included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated 
Surplus are $104,368,994 (2021 - $109,590,325).
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9) CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

a) Contractual Rights

The Region has rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements entered into before December 31, 2022. The rights will 
become assets and revenues and will be recognized when the terms of the contracts or agreements are met.

The Region’s contractual rights consist of:

• Letters of Credit (L/C) from developers that are used as collateral for future development charges. Currently, the Region securely holds 18
L/Cs of $135,224,643 (2021 - 40 L/Cs of $168,860,175).

• An agreement with Metrolinx to fund the construction of bus rapidways. The remaining funding Metrolinx has guaranteed the Region is 
$29,553,004 (2021 - $47,696,898).

• Rights to transit advertisements, solar revenue and other lease revenue. Future revenue from these sources for the next 5 years are 
approximately:

2023 $ 6,723,393

2024 3,705,376

2025 2,850,388

2026 2,243,134

2027 2,211,480

b) Contingent Assets

As at December 31, 2022, the Region has certain outstanding legal actions against various defendants in which the Region is seeking 
damages. The Region has determined that resolution in favour of the Region is likely in some of these actions. However, the amount of possible 
damages to be received is undeterminable as at December 31, 2022.

10)	 CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

a) Water Supply Agreements with City of Toronto and Region of Peel

The Water Servicing Agreement with the City of Toronto is based on the Region’s proportionate share of overall operating cost and includes 
a contribution for future asset management. In 2022, the Region paid $40,265,475 (2021 - $34,255,975) for water purchased under this 
agreement.

The Water Servicing Agreement with the Region of Peel is also based on the Region’s proportionate share of operating costs, and includes a 
contribution for future asset management. In 2022, the Region paid $20,983,400 (2021 - $21,253,384) for purchases under this agreement, 
excluding reconciling items.

The Water Supply Agreements with both City of Toronto and Region of Peel continue into perpetuity unless terminated by both parties and are 
revisited every 5 years.

b) Peel Wastewater Servicing Agreement

The York-Peel Wastewater Servicing Agreement with the Region of Peel provides servicing based on increasing projected flows through 
2031 at a price determined annually, based on the Region’s proportionate share of operating cost and includes a contribution for future 
asset management. In 2022, Peel provided servicing for York wastewater flows for a total payment of $6,438,147 (2021 - $6,157,605) before 
reconciling items. The York-Peel Wastewater Servicing Agreement with the Region of Peel continues into perpetuity unless terminated by both 
parties and is revisited every 5 years.

c) Operating Leases

Under the terms of various operating lease agreements, future minimum payments for the next 5 years are as follows:

2023 $ 7,265,155

2024 5,820,858

2025 5,570,161

2026 5,455,814

2027 4,432,076

55



THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022

18

d) York Rapid Transit Plan / Yonge North Subway Extension Project

In 2002, the Region entered into a public-private partnership with York Consortium 2002 to implement the York Rapid Transit Plan. The York 
Rapid Transit Plan was developed from the Region’s Transportation Master Plan, which identified the need to implement a rapid transit 
network that would reduce the level of traffic congestion and support economic and residential growth. The current rapid transit plan, 
vivaNext, includes the construction of the Yonge and Spadina subway extensions and 33.7 kilometres of bus rapid transit corridors.

The bus rapid transit corridors are funded by the provincial government, through Metrolinx, as disclosed in Note 9(a).

In 2020, the Region signed a preliminary agreement with the Province to work towards delivering the Yonge North Subway Extension. This 
project would extend the TTC subway Line 1, north from Finch Station by approximately 8 kilometres, to the Richmond Hill Centre, just north of 
Highway 7. The planning, design and engineering phase is underway. This is a critical rapid transit link that includes up to 5 subway stations in 
York Region. The total project cost is estimated to be approximately $5,600,000,000. While the formal contribution agreement has yet to be 
negotiated, the current estimate for the Region’s share of the project is $1,120,000,000.

York Region allocated $36,344,175 from the Public Transit Infrastructure Fund (phase 1) to the planning, design, and engineering (PDE) phase 
of the Yonge North Subway Extension project. The Region’s remaining commitment to the PDE work is $36,344,175.

e) York Region Hospital Capital Funding

In 2009, Council approved a memorandum of understanding (MOU) between the Region and York Region hospitals, which provides direction 
for capital funding of the four regional hospitals from 2009 to 2031. Despite the termination of the MOU in 2019, the financial commitments 
remained. The Region’s total obligation for the Cortellucci Vaughan Hospital, the only remaining commitment, is approximately $154,597,474, 
including forecasted future adjustments. As of December 31, 2022, the Region has paid $94,549,246 to this hospital and the remaining 
commitment is $60,048,228 (2021 - $76,088,470).

f) York University Markham Centre Campus Capital Funding

In 2014, Council approved a memorandum of understanding (MOU) between the Region and York University to provide up to $25,000,000 in 
financial support towards a new campus located in the Markham Centre. Construction started in October 2020 for York University’s Markham 
Centre Campus, which is expected to welcome their first students in the Fall of 2023. Once open, the new campus will accommodate up to 
4,200 students in Phase 1, with the flexibility to respond to future growth demands. In 2020, the Region entered into a Funding Agreement 
with York University that supersedes the MOU. In October 2020, York University met the second of two milestone requirements in the Funding 
Agreement and became eligible for the Region’s funding in four instalments. By the end of 2022, York University’s Markham Centre Campus 
had received three instalments of $5,000,000 in total. The fourth and final instalment of $20,000,000 would be payable upon substantial 
completion expected in 2023.

11) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

a) Public Liability Insurance

The Region’s public liability insurance limits are set at $50,000,000. Environmental impairment liability is fully self-insured by the Region. The 
Region increased its self-insured retention (SIR) effective July 1, 2021 to $1,000,000 per occurrence for liability and automobile claims. Prior to 
July 1, 2021 the SIR was $500,000 for several years. The Region’s Property policy includes a deductible of $100,000 per occurrence for most 
losses and the deducible under its Crime policy is $150,000.

The Region estimates that the liability as at December 31, 2022 for all outstanding public liability claims is $6,760,671 (2021 - $8,140,239). The 
total insurance reserve is $34,070,341 (2021 - $32,503,860).

b) Other Contingencies

The Region, in the course of its operations, is subject to claims, lawsuits and other contingencies. Accruals have been made in specific instances 
where it is probable that liabilities will be incurred and where such liabilities can be reasonably estimated. Although it is possible that liabilities 
may arise in other instances for which no accruals have been made, the Region does not believe that such an outcome will significantly impair 
its operations or have a material adverse effect on its Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
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12) LIABILITY FOR CONTAMINATED SITES

The Region recognized an estimated liability of $619,886 (2021 - $828,659) for remediation of a contaminated site not in productive use. The 
liability is based on estimated cost of remediating the site with known contamination prepared by a third-party environmental consulting firm.

The estimated liability is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The Region 
estimates the liability will be recoverable from a third-party.

13) PROVINCIAL OFFENCES ADMINISTRATION

The Region administers prosecutions and the collection of related fines and fees under the authority of the Provincial Offences Act (“POA”). The POA 
is a procedural law for administering and prosecuting provincial offences, including those committed under the Highway Traffic Act., Compulsory 
Automobile Insurance Act, Trespass to Property Act, Liquor License Act, Municipal By-laws and minor federal offences. Offenders may pay their fines 
online, by mail, by phone, or in-person at any POA court in Ontario, at which time their receipt is recorded in the Integrated Courts Offences 
Network system (“ICON”). The Region recognizes fine revenue on a gross basis when the receipt of funds is recorded by ICON regardless of the 
location where payment is made.

Gross revenue is comprised primarily of fines levied under Part I, II and III of the Provincial Offences Act (including delay penalties). The gross revenue 
for 2022 amounts to $14,378,814 (2021 - $20,410,600 after Safe Restart and Municipal Recovery Funding) and the net surplus/(deficit) amounts to 
$(3,714,161) (2021 - $2,996,589). Balances arising from operations of POA offices are consolidated with these financial statements and reported in 
protection to persons and property on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus.
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 14)	 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

COST

Balance at  
December 31, 2021

$
Additions/Transfers

$
Disposals

$

Balance at  
December 31, 2022

$

Land 657,093,131 33,942,883 (1,597,969) 689,438,045

Land improvements 399,759,490 19,586,076 - 419,345,566

Buildings 2,898,940,267 115,993,128 (15,720,030) 2,999,213,365

Equipment and machinery 913,339,381 43,468,602 (25,424,814) 931,383,169

Vehicles 463,441,389 63,717,760 (26,245,259) 500,913,890

Transit infrastructure 539,363,104 - - 539,363,104

Roads infrastructure 2,682,219,854 255,270,246 (21,221,412) 2,916,268,688

Water and wastewater infrastructure 2,301,813,710 134,894,131 - 2,436,707,841

Assets under construction 1,437,307,370 (148,425,386) - 1,288,881,984

Total 12,293,277,696 518,447,440 (90,209,484) $12,721,515,652

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Balance at  
December 31, 2021

$
Disposals

$

Amortization 
expense

$

Balance at  
December 31, 2022

$

Land improvements 184,354,819 - 18,052,634 202,407,453

Buildings 974,271,438 (15,306,490) 79,772,502 1,038,737,450

Equipment and machinery 431,961,451 (25,244,545) 58,705,070 465,421,976

Vehicles 290,800,863 (26,147,608) 37,000,849 301,654,104

Transit infrastructure 56,775,064 - 16,943,245 73,718,309

Roads infrastructure 1,077,127,220 (18,098,519) 99,108,222 1,158,136,923

Water and wastewater infrastructure 305,560,503 - 27,417,772 332,978,275

Total 3,320,851,358 (84,797,162) 337,000,294 3,573,054,490

Balance at  
December 31, 2021

$

Balance at  
December 31, 2022

$

Land 657,093,131 689,438,045

Land improvements 215,404,671 216,938,113

Buildings 1,924,668,829 1,960,475,915

Equipment and machinery 481,377,930 465,961,193

Vehicles 172,640,526 199,259,786

Transit infrastructure 482,588,040 465,644,795

Roads infrastructure 1,605,092,634 1,758,131,765

Water and wastewater infrastructure 1,996,253,207 2,103,729,566

Assets under construction 1,437,307,370 1,288,881,984

Total 8,972,426,338  9,148,461,162

In 2022, the Region received $52,000 in contributed assets (2021 - nil ) from external parties.

The Region recognized a write-off of tangible capital assets of $3,716,702 in 2022 (2021 - $1,341,050), mainly due to replacing capital assets that were 
close to the end of their useful life.

Unrecognized Assets

The Region has a collection of items such as textual records, artwork, artifacts and historical furniture that are held to document the Region’s cultural history. 
The value of the collection has been excluded from the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

58



THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022

21

15)	 ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Accumulated surplus is comprised of individual fund surpluses and reserves and reserve funds as follows:

2022
$

2021
$

Surplus
Invested in tangible capital assets 4,806,914,639 4,710,254,065

Investments in related entities 374,792,363 336,215,422

5,181,707,002 5,046,469,487

Reserves and Reserve Funds
Asset Replacement Reserves

Roads infrastructure 823,303,235 773,886,999

Capital replacement-water and sewer 743,012,199 677,362,409

Regionally owned housing 233,367,103 206,842,257

Facilities rehabilitation and replacement 168,703,495 162,219,930

Equipment/vehicle replacement 98,996,868 94,959,875

Transit vehicle replacement 64,494,640 101,327,178

2,131,877,540 2,016,598,648

Sinking Fund 1,067,533,830 849,447,585

Corporate Reserves
Rates stabilization 122,096,780 94,619,954

Pandemic Management and Recovery Reserve Fund 120,276,176 106,515,000

Tax stabilization 61,048,892 59,977,103

Fiscal stabilization 53,365,769 51,736,345

Working capital 50,000,000 50,000,000

Waste management stabilization 38,207,278 35,679,810

Insurance 34,070,341 32,503,860

Fuel cost stabilization 24,316,249 23,683,357

Hospital financing 10,940,507 20,037,160

Innovation investment 6,294,779 5,848,574

Innovation 5,833,362 5,691,429

Land securement 5,246,180 1,655,927

Cannabis contingency 2,914,320 2,843,411

Green energy 2,362,470 2,134,297

Court services 2,255,629 4,515,225

IT licensing and software development 1,214,099 1,185,094

540,442,831 498,626,546

Capital Reserves
Debt reduction 385,420,970 293,407,213

Solid waste management 96,379,172 82,881,950

Non-profit housing capital 86,617,827 78,412,185

Social housing development 66,004,701 67,721,208

Roads capital acceleration 52,636,654 48,328,842

General capital 45,582,670 45,318,725

Rapid Transit 44,704,932 31,500,000

Roads capital 25,763,930 18,920,581

IT development 22,842,228 24,344,306

Land bank 7,957,732 7,764,111

Police infrastructure 1,969,591 1,842,713
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2022
$

2021
$

Transit 1,039,108 1,023,656

Move Ontario - 5,737

836,919,515 701,471,227

Contingent Liability and Other
Workers' compensation 79,409,680 65,569,843

Group benefits 74,880,157 52,231,057

Long-term disability 66,466,525 60,543,718

Sick leave 7,930,576 8,496,227

Seized funds 222,206 187,884

228,909,144 187,028,729

Total Reserves and Reserve Funds 4,805,682,860 4,253,172,735

Total 9,987,389,862 9,299,642,222

16) SEGMENT DISCLOSURE

The Region is a municipal government which provides a wide range of services to its residents that include general government, protection to 
persons and property, transportation, environmental, health and emergency services, community services, social housing, and planning and 
development services.

General Government

General government comprised of the Council, the Chair’s Office, Office of the Chief Administrative Officer, Corporate Services, and Finance 
Departments. These divisions and branches supply administrative and financial leadership for the Regional Corporation.

Protection to persons and property

Protection to persons and property consists of the activities of Police Service Board and York Regional Police. Their mandates are to ensure the safety 
of the lives and property of citizens, to prevent crime from occurring, to detect offenders, and to enforce the law. It also includes the activities of Court 
Services and funding provided to conservation authorities.

Transportation services

The department operates and delivers regional infrastructure involving roadways, public transit, traffic systems, and bridges and culverts. York Region 
Rapid Transit Corporation’s principal activity is the design and delivery of York Region’s rapid transit systems. The corporation is solely owned by 
the Region.

Environmental services

The department is responsible for water treatment and distribution, wastewater collection and treatment, solid waste disposal and diversion, 
corporate energy and natural heritage and forestry. It also delivers infrastructure projects, both for new and expanded assets and major rehabilitation 
of existing assets.

Health and emergency services

The Region provides a variety of health-related programs and services that contribute to healthy communities through partnerships, promotion, 
prevention, protection, enforcement and pandemic response. Staff members render programs such as land ambulance service, immunization, 
nutrition, mental health and health inspection.

Community services

Children’s Services plans, manages and coordinates Region-wide child care services. Long Term Care operates long-term care facilities for seniors. The 
Ontario Works and Ontario Disabilities Support Programs deliver a range of programs providing employment and financial assistance to residents in 
need.

Social housing

Social housing is responsible for administrating social housing providers, the rent supplement programs and managing a social housing wait list. 
Housing York Inc. is a non-profit housing corporation fully owned by the Region. It provides affordable rental units for its residents.

Planning and economic development

This unit provides long-term comprehensive approach to planning and development processes to ensure the efficient use of land and community 
infrastructure. Services include a long-range capital planning, development review, road occupancy permits and inspection services. It also includes 
the activities of YorkNet which offers access to communications infrastructure.
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General 
government

$

Protection to 
persons and 

property
$

Transportation
services

$

Environmental 
services

$

Health and
emergency

services
$

REVENUES

Net taxation 150,109,939 384,308,206 402,868,018 68,737,279 81,329,240

Provincial grants - 17,076,472 41,576,108 (61,393) 160,329,608

Federal grants 442,822 19,578 34,029,383 2,014,795 228,733

Development charges 1,238,507 12,832,089 174,849,981 229,893,760 5,255,032

User charges - - - 387,759,922 -

Fees and services 2,969,357 27,530,309 61,506,091 22,175,192 716,950

Investment income 124,916,215 - - - -

Other 1,442,511 3,327,641 2,007,409 20,725,543 221,957

Total revenue 281,119,351 445,094,295 716,836,990 731,245,098 248,081,520

EXPENSES

Salaries and benefits 86,724,380 385,510,366 74,194,281 63,702,120 183,821,800

Operating expenses 26,776,261 42,102,271 231,088,172 236,161,953 48,084,435

Amortization 22,910,988 14,966,035 177,154,044 105,637,138 5,153,919

Government transfers 1,000,926 6,597,776 1,515,247 10,750,383 17,262,501

Interest payments 443,937 1,978,694 26,696,020 70,550,286 315,355

Total expenses 137,856,492 451,155,142 510,647,764 486,801,880 254,638,010

Annual Surplus (Deficit) 143,262,859 (6,060,847) 206,189,226 244,443,218 (6,556,490)
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Community
services

$

Social
housing

$

Planning and
economic

development
$

Total
2022

$

Total
2021

$

REVENUES

Net taxation 112,198,218 70,882,631 11,260,034 1,281,693,565 1,232,742,032

Provincial grants 401,356,682 44,277,893 2,502,682 667,058,052 611,415,826

Federal grants 883,906 10,453,101 6,276,067 54,348,385 82,742,513

Development charges - 8,417,108 1,385,098 433,871,575 370,752,206

User charges - - - 387,759,922 378,003,651

Fees and services 5,631,649 23,936,883 6,090,917 150,557,348 117,240,452

Investment income - - 38,424 124,954,639 115,144,705

Other 1,637,893 5,140,596 705,719 35,209,269 62,431,333

Total revenue 521,708,348 163,108,212 28,258,941 3,135,452,755 2,970,472,718 

EXPENSES

Salaries and benefits 113,862,551 15,604,589 13,271,608 936,691,695 920,218,691

Operating expenses 268,305,833 77,533,981 2,005,558 932,058,464 836,058,424

Amortization 2,155,332 8,403,513 619,325 337,000,294 324,055,705

Government transfers 100,404,835 - 54,000 137,585,668 109,754,301

Interest payments - 4,384,702 - 104,368,994 109,590,325

Total expenses 484,728,551 105,926,785 15,950,491 2,447,705,115 2,299,677,446 

Annual Surplus (Deficit) 36,979,797 57,181,427 12,308,450 687,747,640 670,795,272 

17)	 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain 2021 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Regional Municipality of York 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of the sinking fund of The Regional 
Municipality of York (the Entity), which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022

 the statement of financial activities and change in fund balance for the year then
ended

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2022, and its results 
of operations and its change in fund balance for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of 
our auditor's report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. 

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal
control.
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.  However, future events
or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Vaughan, Canada 

April 25, 2023 
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Sinking Fund Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2022 

2022
$

2021
$

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Investment - at amortized cost (Note 4) 1,053,946,321 795,266,800

Cash 23,362,256 62,036,445

Interest receivable 896,711 -

Total Assets 1,078,205,288 857,303,245

LIABILITIES

Actuarial requirement for retirement of the sinking fund (Note 5) 1,019,824,810 803,612,437

Fund balance 58,380,478 53,690,808

Total Liabilities and Fund Position 1,078,205,288 857,303,245

THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Sinking Fund Statement of Financial Activities and Change in Fund Balance 
For the Year ended December 31, 2022 

Budget
(Note 10)

$

2022
$

2021
$

REVENUE

Local Municipalities 2,607,420 2,607,421 2,607,420

Regional Corporation 192,345,076 192,345,076 182,239,407

194,952,496 194,952,497 184,846,827

Net investment income (Note 6) 21,259,877 25,949,546 25,876,405

216,212,373 220,902,043 210,723,232

EXPENSES
Actuarial requirement for the year (216,212,373) (216,212,373) (204,710,863)

Payments to Regional Corporation - - (334,897)

Change in Fund Balance - 4,689,670 5,677,472

Opening Fund Balance 58,380,478 53,690,808 48,013,336

Closing Fund Balance 58,380,478 58,380,478 53,690,808

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Sinking Funds Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2022

2022
$

2021
$

OPERATING

Change in fund Balance 4,689,670 5,677,472

Changes in non-cash assets and liabilities

Interest receivable (896,711) 2,308,892

Actuarial requirement for retirement of the sinking fund 216,212,373 24,710,788

Net change in cash from operations 220,005,332 32,697,152

INVESTING
Net change in investments (258,679,521) (99,105,903)

Net change in cash (38,674,189) (66,408,751)

Opening, cash 62,036,445 128,445,196

Closing, cash 23,362,256 62,036,445

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1) PURPOSE OF THE SINKING FUND

The Regional Municipality of York’s sinking fund accumulate amounts through periodic contributions, which are calculated such that the contributions 
and interest earnings will be sufficient to retire the principal amount of the sinking funds debt when it matures.

Note 7 in these financial statements contains the schedule of projected debenture maturity amounts.

The Sinking Funds are governed under the Municipal Act (Ontario) and are exempt from income taxes under Section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act 
(Canada).

2)	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards, except that investments are 
recorded at fair value to better reflect their ability to meet debt obligations. The significant accounting policies are summarized below.

a) Investments

Investments are comprised of cash and fixed income securities and are valued based on cost plus accrued investment/interest income.

The sinking fund invests in debentures issued or guaranteed by Provincial and Municipal governments and corporate bonds; the fair value of 
investments recorded in the financial statements is based on the latest bid prices and the change in fair value is included in the statement of 
operations and changes in surplus as investment income. Investment transactions are recorded on a settlement date basis and transaction 
costs are expensed as incurred.

The sinking fund’s investment activities expose it to a range of financial risks, including market risk, credit risk, and interest rate risk (Note 4).

b) Revenue Recognition

Contributions are recognized as revenue in the year received. Interest income is recorded when earned.

Sinking fund debenture issues are grouped by interest rates. These rates represent the investment earnings assumptions for each of the 
respective funds and are used in determining the annual contributions required to retire the outstanding debt.

Investment income includes investment income and interest income, net of bank service charges, audit fees and unrealized gain (loss) on the 
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investments.

3) USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, 
liabilities and deficit/surplus at the reporting date and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. In particular, there is significant judgment applied in determining actuarial requirements for the sinking fund.

The actuarial requirements liability of the sinking funds represents the amounts levied during the year as set out in the sinking fund debenture 
bylaws plus interest accrued, compounded at the sinking funds rates of 1.0%, 1.5%, 1.6%, 2.0% or 3.0%. These actuarial requirement liabilities are 
presented at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. The average rate of return and term to maturity relate only to fixed income securities. 
Any excess revenue over these requirements is included in the sinking fund balance.

4) INVESTMENTS

Fair value represents bid price for each investment, while face value represents the original cost of the investment at the purchase date. Sinking 
fund investments will be held to maturity. In addition, there were no indicators which suggested that the sinking funds’ investments were 
permanently impaired as at December 31, 2022 and therefore, no adjustments were recognized.

2022
Fair Value

$

2022
Face Value

$

2021
Fair Value

$

2021
Face Value

$

Debt investments issued or guaranteed by:

Provincial governments 839,114,656 970,337,148 811,683,512 795,266,800

Corporations 81,999,770 83,609,173 - -

921,114,426 1,053,946,321 811,683,512 795,266,800
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2022 2021

Amortized cost, including accrued interest $1,053,946,321 $795,266,800

Weighted average rate of return 2.55% 3.01%

Average term to maturity 9.5 Years 11.2 Years

Excess of fair value over amortized cost (132,831,895) 16,416,712

5) ACTUARIAL REQUIREMENTS

2022
$

2021
$

Actuarial requirements, beginning of year 803,612,437 856,901,574

Change in actuarial liability requirements 216,212,373 126,710,863

1,019,824,810 983,612,437

Less value of debentures matured, during the year - (180,000,000)

Actuarial requirements, end of year 1,019,824,810 803,612,437

6) INVESTMENT INCOME

2022
$

2021
$

Investment Revenues:

Interest From Coupon Bonds 1,652,768 1,074,073

Bond Premium/(Discount) Amortized 167,201 -

Zero Coupon Discounts Amortized 22,691,366 17,084,413

Realized Capital Gains 594,467 6,762,651

Total Investment Revenues 25,105,802 24,921,137

Other Revenues:

Bank Interest 832,100 932,921

Security Lending 37,791 45,041

Total Other Revenues 869,891 977,962

Expenses

Safekeeping and Transaction Fees (26,147) (22,694)

Total 25,949,546 25,876,405

7) SCHEDULE OF PROJECTED DEBENTURE		

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the following is a list of the projected maturities of debentures issued by the Regional Municipality of York 
held within the general fund portfolio. The list only includes years when debentures are expected to mature.

Maturity 
Year

Amount 
$

2032 25,000,000

2041 5,000,000

2043 5,000,000

35,000,000
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8) RISK EXPOSURE

The sinking funds are subject to market risk, credit risk, and interest rate risk with respect to the investment portfolio. The sinking fund’s interest-
bearing investments are exposed to interest rate risk. Sinking fund’s investments are at risk due to fluctuations in market prices whether changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual investment or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. The sinking fund manages risk by 
investing across a wide variety of asset classes and investment strategies.

The sinking fund holds investments in fixed income securities issued by corporations and government entities and as such have fixed income credit 
risk. The sinking fund mitigates this risk by limiting the investment portfolio to investments in BBB grade or higher.

The sinking fund’s liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to settle or meet commitments as they come due. These commitments include payment of 
the funding obligations of the sinking fund. Liquidity risk is managed by ensuring the sinking fund invest in securities that are actively traded.

9) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

In managing capital, the sinking fund focuses on liquid resources available for reinvestment. The sinking fund’s objective is to have sufficient liquid 
resources to meet its debenture obligations when they mature. The need for sufficient liquid resources is considered in the investment process. As at 
December 31, 2022, the sinking fund has met their objective of having sufficient liquid resources to meet current obligations.

10) BUDGET

Budget figures presented in the Sinking Fund Statement of Financial Activities and Changes in Fund Balance are based on the 2022 budget 
approved by the Sinking Fund Committee on July 18, 2022.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Regional Municipality of York 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of residents' trust fund and donation account 
of The Regional Municipality of York (the Entity), which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022

 the statement of financial activities and fund balances for the year then ended

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2022, and its results 
of operations for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of 
our auditor's report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. 

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal
control.
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.  However, future events
or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Vaughan, Canada 

April 25, 2023 
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Residents’ Trust Funds and Donation Account 
Statement of Financial Position  
As at December 31, 2022 

Trust
$

Donation
$

2022
$

2021
$

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash 227,122 38,899 266,021 285,351

Residents’ petty cash 6,500 - 6,500 6,500

Total assets 233,622 38,899 272,521 291,851

Fund balances 233,622 38,899 272,521 291,851

THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Residents’ Trust Funds and Donation Account  
Statement of Financial Activities and Fund Balances 
Year ended December 31, 2022

Trust 
$

Donation
$

2022
$

2021
$

Fund balances, beginning of year 254,285 37,566 291,851 292,857

Source of funds:

Deposits on behalf of residents 314,002 390 314,392 335,340

Interest earned on deposits - 943 943 303

314,002 1,333 315,335 335,643

Use of funds:

Withdrawals (334,665) - (334,665) (336,649)

Net activity (20,663) 1,333 (19,330) (1,006)

Closing fund balance 233,622 38,899 272,521 291,851

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF YORK

Notes to the Residents’ Trust Funds and Donation Account 
Statement of Financial Position and Financial Activities 

December 31, 2022

1)	 RESIDENTS’ TRUST FUNDS

The residents’s trust funds for residents of Newmarket Health Centre and Maple Health Centre (the “facilities”) were established in accordance with 
the Regional Municipality of York policy, and in compliance with the Fixing Long-Term Care Act. 2021 and General Regulation 246/22. These accounts
are utilized to process Trust Funds/Comfort Allowance deposits and to make payments for authorized good and services purchased by residents.

2)	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Region Municipality of York (“Region”) - Residents’ Trust Funds and Donation Account are prepared by management 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”)
of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (“CPA Canada”).

a) These financial statements reflect the financial activity and financial position of funds held in trust by the Regional Municipality of York 
(the ‘Region’) for residents of Newmarket Health Centre and Maple Health Centre, and funds donated to the facilities.

b) Funds held in trust and monies received by way of donation are reported separately and invested by the Region on behalf of the residents. 
Interest is credited to the funds based on the average yield earned by the Region on its investments.

3) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

a) Cash and investments are recorded at cost.

b) Deposits on behalf of the residents are reported upon receipt and interest income is reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Withdrawals 
are reported in the period in which they are made.
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Reflecting The Regional Municipality 
of York’s strong commitment to fiscal 
prudence, results for the year ended 
December 31, 2022, show continued 
strengthening of the Region’s balance 
sheet despite the impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and other 
global events. 

The Region’s spending in 2022 
supported important priorities that 
advance the Region’s vision of strong, 
caring, safe communities, including the 
reopening and resumption of activities 
curtailed by the pandemic starting in 
early 2020. It also took the first steps 
in funding the Region’s $1.12 billion 
share of the costs of the Yonge North 
Subway Extension, a longstanding 
Regional priority.

The 2022 Regional budget as approved 
by Council was presented in a way that 
showed how cash inflows, including the 
property tax levy, were balanced against 
all expected cash outflows. On this 
basis, the Region recorded an operating 
surplus of $77.9 million in 2022. 

The financial results in this report are 
presented on the full accrual basis 

of accounting, which differs from the 
budget presentation. For comparability 
with this report, the 2022 budget book 
provided expected revenues, spending 
and annual surplus on a full accrual 
basis. This report compares 2022 results 
to the budget as presented on the full 
accrual basis. 

On the full accrual basis of accounting, 
the Region’s revenues exceeded 
expenses, resulting in an annual surplus 
of $687.7 million from operations over 
the year. This was $51.0 million lower 
than expected in the 2022 budget on 
the full accrual basis, owing mainly to 
lower-than-expected revenue. 

With the addition of the 2022 annual 
surplus, the Region’s accumulated 
surplus reached $10.0 billion at the 
end of 2022, up from $9.3 billion at 
the end of 2021. The Region’s financial 
assets, including investments, rose by 
$689.2 million. 

The discussion and analysis that 
follow, as well as the financial 
statements themselves, represent key 
parts of our accountability to residents 
and businesses. 

The Regional Municipality of York

TREASURER’S REPORT

Laura Mirabella, FCPA, FCA 
Commissioner of Finance 

and Regional Treasurer

1

Attachment 2
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TREASURER’S REPORT
The Treasurer’s report expands on the information 
provided in the Region’s financial statements by:

• Outlining the strategic framework guiding the Region’s
financial management

• Giving highlights of the Region’s financial performance
in 2022

• Discussing financial results for 2022 compared to 2021
and the 2022 budget, focusing on the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position and the Consolidated
Statement of Operations

• Explaining the framework for planning and reporting
on financial activities and the Region’s responsibilities
for managing its finances and safeguarding assets

• Looking at possible risks to the Region’s long-term
financial sustainability and how they are managed

YORK REGION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The Region’s financial statements follow this Treasurer’s 
report. The financial statements describe the Region’s 
financial position at the end of the year and show how it 
changed from the previous year and, where relevant, from 
the budget. The notes that follow the financial statement 
are an integral part of the Region’s financial reporting. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
This statement is the Region’s balance sheet, 
listing its assets, liabilities and accumulated 
surplus as of December 31, 2022. 

Consolidated Statement of Operations
This statement reports the Region’s revenues and 
expenses for the year. The net difference is either 
an annual surplus or annual deficit. Revenues 
exceeded expenses in the year ended December 
31, 2022, resulting in an annual surplus.

Consolidated Statement of Change 
in Net Financial Assets / Net Debt
This statement reconciles the change in net 
financial assets/debt for the current and prior 
year. Under public sector financial reporting in 
Canada, “net debt” is defined as the difference 
between a reporting entity’s financial assets and 
its liabilities. (This differs from how the Region 
uses the term “net debt” in other documents to 
mean its issued debt, excluding borrowings on 
behalf of local municipalities and net of sinking 
fund assets.) By year-end 2022, the Region’s 
financial assets were greater than its liabilities. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
This statement outlines the Region’s sources of 
cash, shows how they were applied to meet cash 
needs and gives the resulting change in cash and 
cash equivalents by year-end.

OVERVIEW OF TREASURER’S REPORT, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND STATISTICAL REVIEW
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STATISTICAL REVIEW 
The financial statements and notes are followed by a 
statistical review of key financial and non-financial figures 
over the past five years.

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This document includes additional sets of financial 
statements for:

•	 The sinking fund, which is segregated and audited 
annually, as required by the Municipal Act, 2001. The 
fund’s purpose is to allow the Region to meet the 
repayment requirements of its sinking fund debt. 
Sinking-fund debt requires that funds equivalent to 
a share of the debt be set aside on a prearranged 
schedule before the maturity date.

•	 Funds held in trust by the Region for residents of 
Newmarket Health Centre and Maple Health Centre, 
the Region’s two long-term care homes, and donations 
to those facilities. The Region invests these funds on 
behalf of the residents and interest earned is credited 
to the funds.

STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK
For the 2022 fiscal year, the main elements guiding the 
Region’s financial management were:

•	 Vision and the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan

•	 The 2022 Budget

•	 The Regional Fiscal Strategy

Vision and the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan
The 2022 budget was developed with long-term direction 
set out in Vision, the Region’s long-term blueprint. 

Every four years, to coincide with the new term of Council, 
the Region develops a four-year Strategic Plan with the 
purpose of turning Vision and related goals into day-to-
day activities. The priorities of the 2019-2023 Strategic 
Plan are economic vitality, a sustainable environment, 
healthy communities and good government. 

2022 Budget
The Regional budget provides the financial framework 
to accomplish the Strategic Plan and achieve the 
long-term Vision. 

Multi-year budgeting is a vital aspect of the financial 
framework. At the start of the 2018-2022 term of Council, 
Regional Council reviewed a four-year plan consisting 
of the proposed budget for the first year and an outlook 
for the remaining three years. In each of the following 
three years, the outlook was reduced by one year. 
The 2022 budget represented the final year of that 
multi-year budget. 

While a four-year framework gives overall direction, 
Council has the flexibility to make changes each year as 
conditions warrant. 

The Region’s budget shows major cash inflows and 
outflows and determines the tax levy needed to achieve 
the balance between these. It gives decision-makers and 
other readers a clear picture of where cash resources are 
expected to come from and how they will be applied to all 
activities, including capital and operating, to meet current 
and future needs. 

This annual report provides a set of statements on the full 
accrual basis that together give a full picture of financial 
activities and results for the year. This aligns with the 
recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board, 
which develops accounting standards for governments 
in Canada.

For consistency with financial reporting, the annual 
budget book includes a section entitled “Accrual Budget 
Presentation” in which figures for expected revenue, 
expense and annual surplus are provided on the same 
basis as in the annual report. This report compares results 
for 2022 to the accrual-based budget.
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Regional Fiscal Strategy
The purpose of the Regional Fiscal Strategy, adopted in 
2013 and updated annually, is to help the Region achieve 
long-term financial sustainability in an equitable way over 
time. It brings together three related elements, as shown 
in the diagram below. 

Financial 
Sustainability

Capital
Management

Debt
Management

Reserve
Management

INTERGENERATIONAL EQUITY

The strategy recognizes the importance of fairness over 
time (intergenerational equity): no generation is left 
worse off through the actions of another. This works in 
both directions — today’s residents should not be unduly 
burdened to pay for projects that will largely benefit 

later residents and future residents should not be unduly 
burdened with the costs of projects that largely benefited 
past residents.

Capital management is important because the Region 
must often build major infrastructure like roads, transit 
and water and wastewater systems in advance of the 
expected population and employment growth they will 
serve. While development charges are the main source 
of funding for growth-related projects, debt is used to 
bridge the timing between spending on infrastructure 
and collecting development charge revenue. Aligning 
and phasing delivery of projects is key to mitigating the 
financial risks associated with planning for growth and 
paying for the required infrastructure. 

Reserves are funds that are built up and accessed over 
time for specific purposes, including paying capital-related 
costs to avoid issuing debt. Under the strategy, the Region 
has significantly increased the level of reserves dedicated 
to asset renewal and replacement. A corporate-wide asset 
management plan, endorsed by Regional Council in 2018, 
provides guidance on the size and timing of the needed 
investments. The strategy also saw the creation of a debt 
reduction reserve. Funded from the tax levy, it is mainly 
used to cover growth-related capital costs that are not 
eligible for development charge funding.

The Region’s long-term debt management plan 
considers borrowing needs over the following 10 years, 
complies with Regional and provincial policies and 
considers risks to the plan and ways of mitigating them. 
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2022 HIGHLIGHTS
In 2022, pandemic-related pressures on the Region’s budget eased significantly, although some revenues remained lower and 
some expenses higher. At the same time, the highest rates of inflation in four decades and continuing supply chain disruptions 
presented challenges to the ongoing recovery. Leveraging senior government support and carefully managing its own 
activities allowed the Region to remain in a strong financial position despite these factors.

By year-end York Region had on the full accrual basis of accounting:

• Increased its net financial assets by $507.1 million to reach a balance of $808.5 million

• Recorded an annual surplus of $687.7 million, increasing its accumulated surplus to $10.0 billion

• Continued to save for future needs including debt servicing costs and asset replacement needs by adding $552.5 million to
reserves, increasing the balance to $4.8 billion

• Increased tangible capital assets by $176.0 million, recording a total of $9.1 billion

CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION
The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position gives a picture of the Region’s balance sheet on December 31, 2022. 
The table below provides a summary. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

($ Millions) 2022 Actual 2021 Actual Variance % Change

Financial Assets 6,417.5 5,728.4 689.2 12.0%
Liabilities 5,609.0 5,427.0 182.1 3.4%
Net Financial Assets 808.5 301.4 507.1 168.2%
Tangible Capital Assets 9,148.5 8,972.4 176.0 2.0%
Other Non-Financial Assets 30.4 25.8 4.6 17.9%
Accumulated Surplus 9,987.4 9,299.6 687.7 7.4%

Note: numbers may not add due to rounding

The Statement of Financial Position reports the financial and non-financial assets, including tangible capital assets, available 
to the Region. It also lists obligations in the form of liabilities, including debt. Because the Region’s total assets are greater 
than its liabilities, the statement shows an accumulated surplus.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS RISE BY 12.0%
The Region’s financial assets include cash and cash 
equivalents, investments and amounts owed to the 
Region by third parties, including debt issued by the 
Region on behalf of local municipalities. The pie chart 
below shows the breakdown:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Accounts Receivable

Investments

Debt Amounts Recoverable from Local Municipalities

FINANCIAL ASSETS
$(MILLIONS)

TOTAL
6,4185,011

807

462

137

Note: numbers may not add due to rounding

These assets totalled $6.4 billion at the end of 2022, up 
by $689.2 million or 12.0% from the previous year, largely 
reflecting the Region’s operating surplus for the year and 
its commitment to building reserves through the Regional 
Fiscal Strategy. Within this category, the major change 
was an increase of $1.7 billion in longer-term investments, 
partially offset by a decrease of $993.7 million in cash and 
cash equivalents. The discussion of major sources and uses 
of cash that follows provides further details.

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
The 2022 budget included a capital plan of $980.0 million 
for the year. Under Public Sector Accounting Standards, 
which are used to prepare the financial statements and 
accrual-based budget, $839.6 million of the capital plan 
was classified as planned spending on tangible capital 
assets for financial reporting purposes, with the balance 
allocated to capital-related operating expense. 

By year-end, $553.2 million or 65.9% of the accrual-based 
capital plan, as calculated for year-end reporting, was 
spent. This share was slightly lower than in recent years. 
Underspending was largely due to:

•	 Labour disruptions, shortage of materials due to 
supply-chain issues and delays in transportation 
projects caused by third parties 

•	 Housing services projects not moving forward as 
planned senior government funding was not secured

•	 Ongoing consultations for the Yonge North Subway 
Extension

As the graph below shows, nearly 50% of the spending 
was for growth-related projects, while the balance went 
to renewing and/or replacing existing assets. The growth-
related portion was largely funded by development 
charges. The cost of renewals and replacements was 
largely covered from asset replacement reserves.

Renewal and Replacement Growth

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS:
CAPITAL SPEND
$(MILLIONS)

278 275TOTAL
553
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Financial reporting makes a distinction between assets under construction and assets in use. As an asset is completed and 
goes into service, the cost to build or acquire it moves from assets under construction into the appropriate category of assets 
in use. Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements shows these categories and their value at year-end.

Assets under construction totalled $1.3 billion at year-end. The table below lists the five largest additions to the assets under 
construction account, with a comparison to the capital budget. 

2022 Top 5 Capital Spend $(Millions)

Project Service Area Additions Capital Budget (1)

Conventional Bus Replacement Transportation Services 47.7 48.4

Road Asset Renewal and Replacement Transportation Services 38.2 51.7

55 Orlando Garage Expansion Transportation Services  26.6 32.4

Aurora Henderson Pumping Station Transportation Services 17.8 (2) 15.4

Rutherford Road - Jane Street to Westburne Drive Transportation Services 16.9 19.5

(1) Capital budget is based on the 2022 budget approved by Council on December 16, 2021. 

(2) Additional spending was within overall Capital Spending Authority.

Several projects were completed and put into use in 2022. The table below lists the five largest completions and the year that 
work first began on the project. 

2022 Top 5 Additions to Assets in Use $(Millions)

Project Service Area Additions Project Start Date

York Durham Sewage System Forcemain Twinning Environmental Services 126.4 2014

Major Mackenzie Drive - Canadian Pacific Railway 
to Pine Valley Drive

Transportation Services 122.2 2009

Cornell Terminal Transportation Services 49.2 2014

Conventional Bus Replacement Transportation Services 48.8 2022

Road Asset Renewal and Replacement Transportation Services 44.9 2022

In addition to projects in the Region’s 10-year capital plan, the Region also delivers construction of bus rapidways and 
associated infrastructure that make up the Viva bus rapid transit network. These projects are fully funded by the provincial 
Metrolinx agency.
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Net book value (NVB) as reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is the historical cost of an asset less its 
accumulated amortization. After taking into account additions of capital assets, amortization expense of $337.0 million and 
the disposal of assets during the year, the net book value of the Region’s assets rose by $176.0 million, taking the total to $9.1 
billion at the end of 2022. 

The following graphs show the breakdown in the net book value of assets by category and service area:

Environmental Services

Protection to Persons and Property and Court Services

Transportation Services

Community, Health and Social Housing

General Government and Planning
and Economic Development

NBV OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
BY SERVICE AREA
$(MILLIONS)

Land and Land Improvements

Buildings

Equipment, Machinery and Vehicles

Roads and Transit Infrastructure

Water and Wastewater Infrastructure

Assets under Construction

NBV OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
BY CATEGORY
$(MILLIONS)

1,960

906
1,289

2,104

2,224

665

TOTAL
9,148

394
507

3,925

205

4,117

TOTAL
9,148

Five-year trend in net book value and asset condition 
The net book value of the Region’s assets as measured in the graph below steadily increased from 2018 to 2022. The asset 
base has grown largely as a result of major investments in roads, transit and water and wastewater infrastructure.

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS: INITIAL COST, NET BOOK VALUE
AND REPLACEMENT RESERVES

Capital Assets
Replacement
Reserve Balance

Initial Cost

Net Book Value

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

202220212019 20202018
YEAR

$ (MILLIONS)

10,000

12,000

Note: The Region’s asset replacement reserves exclude land, land improvements, and assets under construction. For comparability, these items have 
also been excluded from capital assets in the graph above.
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One measure of the Region’s potential financial 
vulnerability is the ratio of the net book value of assets 
to their initial cost. This ratio provides an estimate of the 
time remaining in which assets are available to provide 
services, with a low ratio suggesting that assets are being 
used up and not replaced. Service areas use this measure 
as well as regular reviews of asset condition and servicing 
needs to assess overall spending needs. The ratio for the 
Region has held fairly steady over the past five years at 
between 67.4% and 70.4%. 

This means the Region is consistently adding or replacing 
assets, which helps to offset the decline in the net book 
value of existing assets. Net book value as presented in 
the financial statements, which includes assets under 
construction, grew because of a larger growth-related 
capital program. 

Another measure of whether a government is prepared for 
asset-related needs is the amount of dedicated reserves 
available for asset management and whether the level of 
reserves reflects the expected need. 

The Region’s asset management planning has progressed 
significantly in recent years, and provincial requirements 
have become more specific. The Region’s first Corporate 
Asset Management Plan, formalizing asset management 
planning practices across all departments, was approved 
by Regional Council in June 2018. Estimates of asset 
replacement values in the plan were based to the extent 
possible on actual asset condition, which is considered a 
more accurate measure of investment need than age, as 
used in the financial statements. 

Replacement value estimates are updated annually for the 
Region’s State of Infrastructure Report, the latest of which 
shows a current replacement value of $19 billion.

The 2018 plan represented a major step in developing 
a long-term financial plan to maintain, rehabilitate and 
eventually replace assets so that the Region can continue 
providing quality programs and services now and into the 
future. An updated Corporate Asset Management Plan is 
expected to be presented to Regional Council in 
early 2024.

Current asset replacement reserves balances are lower 
than the accumulated amortization associated with the 

existing asset base. Accumulated amortization is one 
way to assess the amount of the Region’s asset value 
that has been consumed to date. With reserve balances 
below this measure, it is necessary to continue focusing on 
contributions to asset replacement reserves.

Planned contributions to capital reserves, including those 
outlined in the 2023 to 2026 Budget, provide the funding 
needed to fully deliver the Region’s 10-year capital plan. 
Additional contributions would be needed to reach the 
Fiscal Strategy objective of intergenerational equity, which 
means the future costs of asset management are shared 
equally by current and future residents.

LIABILITIES INCREASED BY 3.4%
The Region’s liabilities include accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, employee benefit obligations, deferred 
revenue and gross long-term liabilities or debt. The pie 
chart below shows the breakdown:

LIABILITIES
$(MILLIONS)

Gross Long-term Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Deferred Revenue-Obligatory Reserve Funds

Deferred Revenue

Employee Benefit Obligations

344

102

3,550

886

727

TOTAL
5,609

Total liabilities increased by $182.1 million, ending the year 
at $5.6 billion. 
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Liabilities other than debt 
Liabilities other than debt increased by $200.6 million, 
ending the year at $2.1 billion. This was largely as a result 
of increases in deferred revenue-obligatory reserve funds 
and employee benefits obligations.

Employee benefit obligations include the expected costs 
of extended health and dental coverage for retirees, 
vested sick leave benefits, long-term disability claims, 
vacation payable and workers’ compensation obligations. 
Estimates are based on long-term actuarial expectations 
and updated at three-year intervals. These obligations 
increased by $30.4 million or 9.7% from 2021, reflecting 
increases in estimates of future costs and expectation of 
higher health care costs. The Region maintains reserves to 
help address these liabilities as they become due.

Deferred revenue represents funds received from third 
parties and set aside for specific purposes at a later date. 
For accounting purposes, the funds are recorded on the 
asset side of the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position in financial assets, balanced by the deferred 
revenue. They are excluded from the list of reserves that 
the Region maintains for its own use because their use is 
restricted by third-party agreements.

There are two components of deferred revenue on the 
Region’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position: 
general deferred revenue and deferred revenue-obligatory 
reserve funds. 

General deferred revenue includes funds received in 
advance to conduct certain work in accordance with 
legislation or agreements. It also includes user charges 
and fees collected for services not yet rendered. The 
general deferred revenue account increased by $5.7 
million or 5.9% from 2021. 

Deferred revenue-obligatory reserve funds include 
development charges that are collected to pay for future 

growth-related projects and Gas Tax/Canada Community-
Building Fund revenues to be used for transit and other 
specified purposes. These amounts increased by a net 
$146.7 million or 25.3% by year-end 2022. This was 
due to an increase of $145.0 million in the development 
charges balance, representing new collections and accrued 
receivables for deferred development charges of $578.8 
million less the $433.9 million taken into revenue to help 
pay for new infrastructure to support growth and a net 
$1.7 million increase in the Gas Tax/Canada Community-
Building Fund balance. 

Debt
Total debt, which is reported in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position as gross long-term 
liabilities, decreased by $18.5 million to total $3.6 billion 
by the end of 2022. No new Regional debt was issued 
in 2022.

Total debt includes funds borrowed by the Region 
on behalf of local municipalities. The local municipal 
borrowings, which totalled $137.2 million at the end of 
2022, are matched by an asset in the same amount that 
represents their future debt repayments.

Most of the Region’s own borrowings are in the form 
of sinking fund debentures, which require the borrower 
to set aside funds over time to be used for repayment 
when the debt matures. The reserve representing these 
dedicated funds grew by $218.1 million in 2022. 

Netting off the sinking fund asset and excluding local 
municipal borrowing, the Region’s net outstanding debt 
ended the year at $2.3 billion, a decrease of $229.2 million 
from the previous year. 

The Region met its commitment to keep its own debt, net 
of sinking fund assets and local municipal debt, below the 
peak of $2.9 billion that was reached in 2017. 
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Five-year trend in debt
Reduced reliance on debt is one element of the Regional 
Fiscal Strategy because it supports long-term fiscal 
sustainability. 

The graph below, which reflects debt issuance/repayment 
according to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, 
demonstrates the Region’s success at reducing debt. 
In 2020, with interest rates at historic low levels, the 
Region increased its overall debt to finance new growth 
capital projects, but debt reduction resumed in 2021 and 
continued further in 2022 as interest rates rose.

NET CASH INFLOWS/(OUTFLOWS) 
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY
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Five-year trend in interest expense to 
own-source revenues
The ratio of interest expense to own-source revenues 
(such as property taxes, water and wastewater user 
charges, transit fares, investment income, other user fees 
and provincial fines) is a marker of financial vulnerability. 
When interest expense grows faster than a government’s 
own-source revenues, it may have to divert too much of 
its revenues to paying interest costs, limiting its ability to 
fund other priorities.

The Region’s ratio was 5.3% in 2022, continuing a steady 
decline from 7.5% in 2018. Although borrowers faced the 
highest lending rates in decades in 2022, the Region’s 
ratio fell for two reasons: 

•	 Interest expense declined to $104.4 million in 2022 
from $109.6 million the previous year, as reported in 
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. This is 
because most of the Region’s existing debt is at fixed 
rates, it issued no new long-term debt in 2022 and it 
continued to repay its own outstanding borrowings 
during the year. Interest expense has fallen in each of 
the past five years.

•	 Its own-source revenues increased by $74.6 million 
in 2022.

This ratio is calculated without including development 
charge revenue, which is a key source of funding for debt 
servicing. Including these revenues would reduce the ratio 
to 4.3%, down from 5.9% in 2018.

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS / NET DEBT
Under public sector financial reporting in Canada, the 
difference between a reporting entity’s financial assets 
and its liabilities is its “net financial assets” if positive and 
“net debt” if negative. (In some contexts, the Region uses 
the term “net debt” to mean its issued debt, excluding 
borrowings on behalf of local municipalities and net of 
sinking fund assets.) 

The Region’s net financial assets were $808.5 million at 
the end of 2022, representing the difference between its 
$6.4 billion in financial assets and $5.6 billion in debt and 
other liabilities.

Net financial assets increased by $507.1 million from the 
previous year-end level of $301.4 million because financial 
assets, particularly investments, grew at a faster rate than 
total liabilities. 
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ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
The Region’s accumulated surplus increased by $687.7 
million or 7.4% from 2021 to reach $10.0 billion at the end 
of 2022. The increase is equal to the annual surplus and is 
calculated based on Public Sector Accounting Standards. 
(It differs from the operating surplus, which represents 
any excess in revenue or underspending in relation to the 
operating budget. The 2022 operating surplus is discussed 
in later pages.

The accumulated surplus is the total of past annual 
surpluses. It represents the difference between the 
Region’s assets, including tangible capital assets, and its 
obligations, including debt. As such, it represents the net 
resources the Region has to provide future services. 

The Region has identified a number of specific future 
needs and earmarked a portion of the total accumulated 
surplus for them. These amounts are called reserves and 
reserve funds, and at 2022 year-end they totalled $4.8 
billion, up from $4.3 billion a year earlier. The pie chart 
below provides a breakdown by reserve type. 

RESERVE BREAKDOWN
$(MILLIONS)

Contingent Liability and Other

Capital Reserves

Sinking Fund

Corporate Reserves

Asset Replacement Reserves

229540

1,068

837

2,132

TOTAL
4,806

  
Note: numbers may not add due to rounding 

Asset replacement reserves are funded from two main 
sources: a portion of user rates goes into reserves 
for water and wastewater renewal and replacement, 
while a share of the tax levy is contributed to reserves 
for replacing other assets, such as roads. Total asset 
replacement reserves stood at $2.1 billion by year-end, 
having increased by $115.3 million or 5.7% during the 
year. This increase was made up of contributions and 
interest earned totalling $433.7 million, less $318.4 million 
used for asset management purposes during the year. 

The Region’s sinking fund reserve, which is a segregated 
fund that can only be used to repay existing debt, is the 
next largest balance. It grew by $218.1 million or 25.7% in 
2022 to reach $1.1 billion by year-end. 

Capital reserves that help to fund construction and other 
capital projects increased by $135.4 million or 19.3% in 
2022. The debt reduction, rapid transit and solid waste 
management reserves all saw growth, while the social 
housing development and information technology 
development reserves were drawn down. 

The balance reflects additional reserves that the Region 
maintains to smooth fluctuations in operating revenue and 
expense items and to build funding over time for special 
projects. These additional reserves rose by a total of $83.7 
million, or 12.2%, over the year. 
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Reserves to debt
The ratio of reserves to debt is an important marker 
of fiscal sustainability. Because Ontario municipalities 
can borrow only for capital projects, generally a high 
ratio shows that a municipality’s reserves hold sufficient 
funds for most future capital needs, helping to reduce 
reliance on debt. It also ensures that if revenues were to 
decline, other resources would be available to meet a 
municipality’s obligations. Conversely, a municipality with 
a low ratio is more vulnerable to a revenue decline and/or 
high borrowing needs. 

The Regional Fiscal Strategy has steadily improved the 
reserves-to-debt ratio for the Region, as the graph 
below shows.
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Note: The debt figure represents Region-only debt, excluding local 
municipality debt and housing-related debt, and is net of sinking 
fund assets.

The Region’s strong ratio at the end of 2022 shows that it 
remained in a net investor position and has resources to 
manage short-term fluctuations in revenue and help cover 
future capital needs.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF OPERATIONS
The sections below explain the differences between 
revenues and spending in the budget and this report and 
provide a comparison of operating results to both the 
budget plan and the previous year.

COMPARING ACTUAL RESULTS TO THE BUDGET
The budget is prepared on what is called the “modified 
accrual basis” of accounting. This approach looks mainly 
at expected cash inflows and outflows and uses the 
property tax levy to achieve a balance between them. 
This is different from the accrual treatment for the 
consolidated financial statements, which are prepared in 
accordance with the standards set by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board. 

As a result of the different approaches used to prepare the 
budget and report on results, comparing actual operating 
results to the budget plan requires a reconciliation. This 
reconciliation also captures other differences between 
the budget and financial statements, as the graphic 
below shows: 
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The major differences between the full accrual financial 
statements and the modified accrual budget as approved 
by Regional Council include:

Presentation
• Under full accrual accounting, investment income is

a revenue item and is treated as such in the financial
statements. In the approved budget, a portion of this
is an offset to General Government expense.

• The approved budget presents planned spending by
department. The financial statements and full accrual
budget set out expense by function instead, which
in some cases involves breaking out a department’s
activities as separate items. For better comparability to
the budget, the discussion of expense below combines
the functions of Community and Health Services into
one service area. As in previous years, Transportation
Services and Environmental Services are also
presented as service areas. This generally follows
the presentation in the budget for 2022. During
2022, Transportation Services and Environmental
Services were brought together as the Public Works
department.

Related entities 
• Under full accrual accounting, the financial activities

of three Region-owned entities, York Region Rapid
Transit Corporation, Housing York Inc. and YTN
Telecom Network Inc., known as YorkNet, are fully
consolidated with the results of the department to
which they are related. The treatment of the first two
of these entities was different in the 2022 approved
budget.

Legislative
• Under the Municipal Act, two items may be excluded

from a municipal budget because they require no
cash outlay, as long as Council is informed: post-
employment benefits, which are employee benefits
that have been earned but will be paid in the future as
employees retire; and amortization, which is a fraction
of the cost of a tangible capital asset and is recorded
as an expense each year the asset is expected to be
in service. While the Regional budget includes an
expense for post-employment benefits, the basis
on which it is calculated differs from the treatment
outlined in Note 6 to the financial statements. The
accrual-based budget is consistent with the Note.
Treatment of amortization follows the approach
allowed by provincial law.

Accrual
• Under full accrual accounting, assets that are expected

to last for more than one year are capitalized. This
means the upfront cost of building and acquiring
tangible capital assets is shown not as an expense, but
instead on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
in the year the spending occurs, and amortization is
recorded as an expense over the life of the asset. The
budget as approved by Council treats capital spending
as an expense in the year it occurs. This facilitates
approval of a capital budget that authorizes the
expected cash outflows on capital projects over time.

• Transfers from reserves and the proceeds of
borrowings are sources of cash, not revenues under
full accrual accounting. Similarly, transfers and
contributions into reserves and repayments of debt
are uses of cash, not expenses, under full accrual
accounting. In the budget approved by Council,
these inflows and outflows are taken into account in
balancing the budget as required by provincial statute.

In the “Accrual Budget Presentation” chapter, the 2022 
budget book included a detailed reconciliation between 
the budget prepared for Council approval and the same 
budget presented on a full accrual basis. The table below 
summarizes key figures: 

$(Millions) Approved 
budget 

Adjustments Full accrual 
budget

Revenues 3,661.5 (479.3) 3,182.2

Expenses 3,661.5 (1,218.0) 2,443.5

Surplus - 738.7 738.7

The full accrual budget presented in the budget book 
generally used the same presentation and accounting 
approaches as the financial statements in this annual 
report. In the Consolidated Statement of Operations, some 
accrual budget numbers have been updated to reflect 
internal reorganizations and align with provincial Financial 
Information Return requirements. The total budgeted 
figures for revenues, expenses and annual surplus remain 
the same.

RESULTS FOR 2022 AND FIVE-YEAR TRENDS
This section compares operating results for 2022 to the 
full accrual budget and to results for 2021. It also discusses 
five-year trends in key figures and ratios, as recommended 
by the Public Sector Accounting Board.
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The table below summarizes results from the 2022 Consolidated Statement of Operations:

Consolidated Statement of Operations

$(Millions) 2022 Budget 2022 Actuals 2021 Actuals

Budget 
to Actual 
Variance

Year over 
Year Variance

Revenues 3,182.2 3,135.5 2,970.5 (46.7) 165.0

Expenses 2,443.4 2,447.7 2,299.7 4.3 148.0

Annual Surplus, Accrual Basis 738.7 687.7 670.8 (51.0) 17.0

Note: numbers may not add due to rounding

At $687.7 million, the surplus for 2022 was $51.0 million lower than expected in the accrual-based budget. It was $17.0 million 
higher than the previous year’s $670.8 million surplus. 

REVENUES
The table below provides a summary of the revenues from the 2022 Consolidated Statement of Operations with comparisons 
to the accrual-based budget and the previous year:

$(Millions) 2022 Budget 2022 Actuals 2021 Actuals

Budget 
to Actual 
Variance

Year over 
Year Variance

Revenues

Net Taxation 1,284.2 1,281.7 1,232.7 (2.5) 49.0

User Charges 376.0 387.8 378.0 11.7 9.8

Government Transfers 649.7 721.4 694.2 71.7 27.2

Development Charges 593.6 433.9 370.8 (159.8) 63.1

Fees and Services 126.4 150.6 117.2 24.2 33.3

Investment Income 93.0 125.0 115.1 31.9 9.8

Other 59.2 35.2 62.4 (24.0) (27.2)

3,182.2 3,135.5 2,970.5 (46.7) 165.0

Note: numbers may not add due to rounding 

At $3.1 billion, actual 2022 revenues were $46.7 million lower than expected in the 2022 budget and $165.0 million higher 
than actual 2021 revenues.

•	 Net taxation revenues were consistent with plan, at $1.3 billion.

The increase over 2021 was $49.0 million, or 4.0%, which was in line with the approved tax levy increase of 2.96%, 
assessment growth of 1.46% and offset by a year-over-year decrease in supplementary taxes of 0.43%, due to a greater 
impact of assessment adjustments. 

•	 The budgeted projection for water and wastewater user charges was based on user rates approved by Regional Council in 
September 2021 for the period April 1, 2022, to March 31, 2028 with the goal of ensuring rates cover all costs of providing 
the services. Actual 2022 results were above forecast, as consumption remained higher than expected owing to a hot, dry 
summer.
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The year-over-year increase was $9.8 million, or 2.6%, 
reflecting higher consumption. 

•	 At $721.4 million, revenue from provincial and federal 
transfers was $71.7 million higher than planned. Most 
of the variance comes from higher-than-budgeted 
revenues in senior government funding for childcare 
programming, including the Canada-Wide Early 
Learning and Child Care grant. Further, the Region 
received some unbudgeted funding from the province 
in 2022 for pandemic-related expenses and lost 
revenues. This funding is related to expenditures in 
2020 through 2022. These increases were partially 
offset by declines in other areas: revenue from 
Metrolinx was lower than expected as fewer land 
settlements relating to bus rapidways were completed 
and the Rapid Housing Initiative did not secure senior 
government funding as planned. 

There was an increase of $27.2 million, or 3.9%. in 
transfer payments from 2021 to 2022 due to the 
reasons above, with a partial offset from lower 
COVID-19 transfer payments compared to 2021.

•	 Development charge collections are recorded as 
deferred revenue on the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position. Development charge revenue in 
the Consolidated Statement of Operations reflects 
the drawing down of deferred revenue to fund new 
growth-related projects or to service debt that funded 
previous projects. This source of revenue was $159.8 
million below budget mainly because projects and 
related spending were delayed owing to the pandemic 
and refinements to project schedules. 

Although lower than forecast, development charge 
revenue was $63.1 million or 17.0% higher than 
in 2021.

•	 Fee and services revenue was $24.2 million higher 
than budgeted. The most significant variance relates 
mainly to higher transit fare revenue than budgeted 
as ridership returned to 70% of pre-pandemic levels. 
Higher blue box revenue in waste management also 
contributed as prices for recyclables were higher than 
expected. These increases were partially offset by 
lower-than-expected revenue in Court Services, due 
mainly to delays in provincial re-opening of Provincial 
Offences Act trial courts in York Region as well as 
limited Justice of the Peace resources, both of which 
significantly reduced available court time. 

Fee and services revenue rose by $33.3 million, or 
28.4%, year-over-year mainly due to higher transit 
fare revenue. 

•	 At $125.0 million, interest income and other earnings 
on investments were above the budget forecast of 
$93.0 million. 

Revenue from this source increased by $9.8 million or 
8.5 % from the previous year, reflecting better-than-
expected performance in a highly uncertain market 
environment. The investment portfolio continued to 
outperform its benchmarks. 

•	 Other revenue was $24.0 million lower than budgeted. 
Much of this revenue reflects lower recoveries from 
local municipalities for fewer capital projects the 
Region carried out on their behalf. The budget forecast 
is based on recoveries from construction activity. Most 
of this variance relates to an accounting adjustment 
that did not affect cash. Apart from that, actual other 
revenue was close to budget.

The year-over-year decrease was $27.2 million, 
or 43.6%, for the reason provided above.
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Five-year trend 
The graphs below illustrate annual changes in sources of revenue over the past five years: 
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High dependence on sources of revenue over which a government has little or no control can make it more vulnerable to the 
decisions of other entities. 

In total, revenues over which the Region has control, comprising taxation and user charges, fees, services and interest 
earnings, amounted to about 63.2% of revenue in 2022. Over the past five years, these revenue sources have provided 63.6% 
of total revenues on average. 

Among revenue sources over which the Region has limited control, transfer payments from senior governments have provided 
an average of 23.8% of revenues over the past five years. 

In the first phase of bus rapidway construction, funding from Metrolinx was recorded as revenue (and the related spending 
treated as expense to the Region). In 2019, the province donated some Metrolinx-related assets to the Region. This increased 
government transfers to 26.5% that year. A similar transfer in 2020 was considerably smaller. With the substantial completion 
of the first phase of bus rapidways late in 2020, this component of transfer payment revenue will continue to decline in 
significance. The decrease in Metrolinx transfers was partially offset by pandemic-related funding in 2020, 2021 and 2022.

In general, government transfer fluctuations reflect either specific, time-limited funding (such as for bus rapidway projects) or 
decisions by other levels of government. The Region is accustomed to managing the impact of changes in the level of these 
payments as long as sufficient time to adjust is provided. 
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Drawdowns of development charges are used to pay for growth-related capital projects and can change sharply from year 
to year in line with the capital investments they fund. Over the past five years, this source of revenue has averaged 12.6% of 
the Region’s total. In 2018 the level was 17.1% of total revenue, followed by declines in 2019 and 2020 as the Region relied on 
debt to fund a portion of the growth-related infrastructure and some construction activity was deferred. In 2021 and 2022, 
development charge drawdowns increased to 12.5% and 13.8% of total revenue, respectively.

EXPENSES
The table below provides a summary of the expenses from the 2022 Consolidated Statement of Operations with comparisons 
to the accrual-based budget and the previous year:

$(Millions) 2022 Budget 2022 Actuals 2021 Actuals

Budget 
to Actual 
Variance

Year 
over Year 
Variance

Expenses

Transportation Services (2) 537.7 510.6 477.3 (27.0) 33.3

Environmental Services 532.1 486.8 485.1 (45.3) 1.7

Community and Health Services (3) 748.6 845.3 740.3 96.7 105.0

Protection to Persons and Property (4) 455.2 451.2 436.5 (4.1) 14.7

Other (5) 169.8 153.8 160.5 (16.0) (6.7)

2,443.4 2,447.7 2,299.7 4.3 148.0

Notes:

1.	 Numbers may not add due to rounding

2.	Transportation Services including York Region Rapid Transit Corporation 

3.	Community and Health Services comprises Health and Emergency Services, Community Services and Social Housing (including Housing York Inc.) 
from the Consolidated Statement of Operations

4.	Protection to Persons and Property comprises York Regional Police, the Police Services Board, Court Services and conservation authorities

5.	Other comprises General Government and Planning and Economic Development (including YorkNet) from the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations

Total expenses were $2.4 billion. This was an increase of $4.3 million from the full accrual budget plan and a $148.0 million 
increase from 2021. 

The variances by service area and largest contributing factors are outlined below. 

•	 Overall spending by Transportation Services was $27.0 million less than expected. The decrease reflects a number of costs 
that came in lower than budgeted, including operating costs for maintenance, spending on capital projects due to delays 
mainly caused by supply chain issues, amortization and salaries and benefits, owing to hiring delays. 

The year-over-year increase was $33.3 million, or 7.0%, owing mainly to higher amortization expense, higher operating 
costs related to ridership returning to 70% of pre-COVID levels and higher fuel prices. High fuel prices were mitigated 
through the Fuel Stabilization Reserve. As well, there were reclassifications of some capital spending to operating costs 
because these amounts were recovered from third parties.

•	 Spending by Environmental Services was $45.3 million below budget. A portion of this variance relates to underspending 
on certain rehabilitation capital programs. Further, hirings were delayed, reducing salary and benefit costs more than 
expected. 

On a year-over-year basis there was a slight increase of $1.7 million. 
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•	 In Community and Health Services, spending was $96.7 million above budget. After the 2022 Budget was approved, 
Community and Health Services received $116.0 million in senior government funding. Public Sector Accounting Standards 
require comparison against the original budget, which did not include this funding and related expenditure. In April 2022, 
the Ministry of Education confirmed funding totalling $103.2 million to the Region to implement the Canada-Wide Early 
Learning and Child Care system. The remainder of funding and associated expenditure is related to other streams of 
childcare funding and Public Health programming related to dental care and nursing retention. The increase was balanced 
by funding from senior governments discussed above.

On a year-over-year basis, spending in Community and Health Services rose by $105.0 million, due mainly to the increased 
childcare spending. 

•	 Spending on Protection to Persons and Property, which largely reflects York Regional Police, was close to budget at 
$451.2 million. 

Spending was up $14.7 million year-over-year as a result of expanded service needs for a growing population.

•	 Spending in the “Other” category (which comprises General Government and Planning and Economic Development) 
was $16.0 million less than budgeted, owing partially to delays hiring staff and lower repairs and maintenance costs to 
Regional facilities.

On a year-over-year basis, spending was down $6.7 million, partially reflecting lower hospital grant payments due to 
timing of requests and other lower operating costs.

Five-year trend 
The graphs below illustrate the five-year trend in expenses by service area: 
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By service area: 

•	 Fluctuations in Transportation Services expense largely reflect the Region’s role in delivering bus rapidway projects on 
behalf of Metrolinx. The spending, which was fully funded by Metrolinx, also resulted in the betterment of assets owned 
by other parties, including the Region. Annual changes reflect the portion of funding that was expensed each year as 
opposed to increasing the Region’s asset portfolio. Transportation Services has also seen amortization expense increase 
steadily as a result of significant investments in tangible capital assets. In 2020 and 2021, expense fell in part because of 
reduced transit service in response to the pandemic. Results from 2022 show an uptick over 2021 levels reflecting ridership 
returning to 70% of pre-COVID levels.

•	 Day-to-day Environmental Services expenses reflect the costs to operate and maintain a large and technically complex 
portfolio of assets, higher amortization expense and more stringent regulation, offset by the department’s ongoing 
efforts to find savings. The department’s share of total expense fell from 27.3% in 2018 to 19.9% in 2022. Fluctuations in 
Environmental Services expense before 2022 reflect accounting adjustments that had the effect of increasing operating 
spending in 2018 and decreasing it in 2020. 

•	 Community and Health Services expense rose from $579.7 million or 25.8% of total spending in 2018 to $845.3 million or 
34.5% in 2022. A significant amount of the department’s expense reflects the flow-through of provincial transfer payments 
for social programs to third parties, which fluctuates with provincial policy direction. From 2020 through 2022 most of the 
Region’s pandemic-related costs were recorded in Community and Health Services. New childcare spending, funded by 
senior governments, contributed to the 2022 increase. 

•	 Protection to Persons and Property largely reflects York Regional Police, whose budget is strongly tied to staffing costs. 
Expense has increased from $385.7 million in 2018 to $451.2 million in 2022. The share of total spending has remained 
fairly stable, as spending in this area has paralleled the Region’s overall growth in salaries and benefits. 

Five-year trend 
The graphs below show the five-year trend in expenses by type: 
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Up to 2020, amortization was consistently the fastest-
growing expense item, paralleling significant growth in the 
Region’s portfolio of assets. From a starting point of $275.0 
million or 12.2% of total expense in 2018, it reached 15.2% 
of total expense in 2020. Although its share declined to 
14.1% in 2021 and 13.8% in 2022, reflecting stronger year-
over-year growth in other expenses, amortization continued 
to increase in absolute terms, reaching $337.0 million. 
The impacts of this growth are greatest on Transportation 
Services and Environmental Services departments, which are 
responsible for the bulk of the Region’s assets. 

Transfers made by the Region grew from $90.6 million or 
4.0% of total expense in 2018 to $137.6 million or 5.6% 
in 2022. The peak in 2020 reflects a capital grant to the 
Cortellucci Vaughan Hospital, which was largely completed 
that year. 

Operating expense fell between 2018 and 2020 for a 
number of reasons. Bus rapidway construction that was 
fully funded and carried out on behalf of Metrolinx was 
largely finished by 2020. This work had caused the Region’s 
revenues and expenses to fluctuate over several years. In 
addition, the 2018 figure included accounting adjustments 
that increased operating expenses related to transportation 
and environmental infrastructure. Finally, pandemic-related 
workplace closures starting early in 2020 reduced operating 
spending on items like transit contracts as ridership fell. In 
2021, operating expense rose as some activities curtailed 
by the pandemic resumed. The rise in 2022 largely reflects 
increased spending on childcare, which as discussed above 
is offset by additional senior government funding. Overall, 
operating expense fell in absolute terms from $991.2 million 
in 2018 to $932.1 million in 2022, and from 44.1% to 38.1% 
as a share of all expenses over the same period. 

Salaries and benefits grew from $762.8 million in 2018 
to $936.7 million in 2022. The underlying trend generally 
reflects the hiring of additional police officers, paramedics, 
public health nurses and others to serve a larger population, 
as well as a rise in salaries and the cost of benefits. This 
item’s share of total expense grew to roughly 40.1% in 2020 
and remained at that level in 2021, reflecting the need 
to hire temporary staff, mainly in Community and Health 
Services, in response to the pandemic. The lower 38.3% 
share in 2022 reflects stronger year-over-year growth in 
other expenses.

Interest expense was at its highest in the last five years in 
2018 at $127.0 million and has declined in each subsequent 

year as the Region reduced its reliance on debt. It totalled 
$104.4 million in 2022, falling from 5.7% in 2018 to 4.3% of 
total expense. 

MAJOR SOURCES AND USES OF CASH
Examining the sources and uses of cash is helpful in 
understanding where resources came from and how they 
were used. 

Cash inflows from operations, which is the annual surplus 
adjusted for amortization, the drawdown of deferred 
revenues, contributed assets and other non-cash items, 
amounted to $1.2 billion in 2022. 

The Region invested $518.4 million in tangible capital assets, 
offset by $4.0 million in asset sale proceeds. Funds were also 
used to repay $11.1 million in existing debt. No new debt 
was issued in the year.

The Region also used funds to increase its investment 
portfolio by $1.7 billion. Cash had risen to $1.8 billion at 
the end of 2021 to take advantage of high rates available 
on savings accounts, which is an element of cash and cash 
equivalents. The shift to longer-term investments in 2022 
was made to allow for greater returns over time. 

After these inflows and outflows, cash and cash equivalents 
stood at $807.4 million by year-end, a decrease of $993.7 
million from the previous year.

OPERATING SURPLUS
This section looks at revenues and spending compared to 
the approved operating budget, which is prepared on a 
modified accrual basis.

On that basis, the Region experienced an operating surplus 
of $77.9 million in 2022. 

Revenues were $6.6 million above budget and spending was 
$71.4 million lower than expected in the budget. The main 
contributors to the surplus were Community and Health 
Services and Environmental Services. The outcomes differ 
from the full accrual results because of differences in how 
certain items are treated under modified accrual.

Regional Council directed $13.8 million of the 2022 
operating surplus to support critical social infrastructure, 
made up of $1.0 million to the Social Housing Development 
Reserve and $12.8 million to the Pandemic Management 
and Recovery Reserve for use by the Community and Health 
Services department. The remaining surplus was distributed 
in accordance with the Region’s Surplus Management Policy. 
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
FRAMEWORK 
YORK REGION BYLAWS, POLICIES 
AND CONTROLS
In addition to the Regional Fiscal Strategy, the Region 
has put in place various bylaws, policies and controls to 
reduce risk and support better financial management and 
stewardship of the Region’s assets. 

These cover activities such as borrowing, managing 
reserves, investing Regional funds, procuring goods and 
services, determining insurance coverage and levying 
development charges. As well, the audit function is a key 
element of financial management.

MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY
The Controllership Office within the Finance Department 
is responsible for organization-wide controls, policies and 
procedures to safeguard the Region’s financial resources. 
It also keeps financial records, prepares the annual 
consolidated financial statements and reports on results.

The Controllership Office prepares the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting Standards established by the Public 
Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional 
Accountants of Canada. In addition, Note 1 to the 
consolidated financial statements provides a summary 
of the significant accounting policies, including the 
recent changes.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
No new accounting standards were issued by the 
Public Sector Accounting Board for the year ended 
December 31, 2022.

AUDIT FUNCTION
Council’s Audit Committee helps ensure the Region’s 
administration properly carries out its responsibilities 
for financial reporting, internal control, auditing and 
monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and the 
Region’s Code of Conduct.

The current Audit Committee members are:

•	 York Region Chairman and CEO Wayne Emmerson 
(ex-officio)

•	 Mayor Virginia Hackson (chair)

•	 Regional Councillor Michael Chan (vice chair)

•	 Mayor Steve Pellegrini

•	 Regional Councillor Godwin Chan

•	 Regional Councillor Naomi Davison

•	 Regional Councillor Alan Ho

•	 Regional Councillor Mario G. Racco

The Audit Services branch in the Office of the Chief 
Administrative Officer advises on managing and 
controlling risk, performs independent appraisals of 
control systems and helps identify efficiencies and 
improvements in new and existing processes, programs 
and services.

The Region’s external auditors conduct an audit of 
the consolidated financial statements using Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Their unqualified 
opinion of the financial statements appears before the 
financial statements.

PROVINCIAL LEGISLATION
Provincial direction determines many aspects of 
municipal financial management, including the setting 
of development charges, debt issuance, budgeting and 
accounting and reporting requirements. As the Outlook 
and Risk Management section below notes, changes in 
direction can create fiscal uncertainty.

DEVELOPMENT CHARGES
Development charge rates are regulated by the provincial 
Development Charges Act, 1997 and are levied on new 
residential and non-residential development. They are the 
main source of funding for the growth-related projects 
under the Region’s capital plan.

The Region’s development charge rates and policies are 
set out in Regional bylaw 2022-31, which was approved by 
Council on May 26, 2022, and came into effect on June 17, 
2022. The updated bylaw addresses the 2019 amendment 
to the Development Charges Act that allowed the freezing 
of development charges at the date of site plan or zoning 

97



23

bylaw amendment application, as well as the option for 
installment payments for for-profit rental and institutional 
development charges. To mitigate the financial impacts 
of these changes, and as permitted under Development 
Charges Act, Regional Council adopted a policy to charge 
interest on frozen development charges and installment 
payments.

The setting of development charge rates starts with 
forecasting expected growth and estimating the Region’s 
infrastructure need to service and accommodate the 
growth. These estimates are then adjusted in line with 
the Development Charges Act guidance to reflect amounts 
eligible for recovery through development charges. This 
work culminates in the development charge bylaw and 
associated rates. 

On November 28, 2022, the provincial government’s More 
Homes Built Faster Act, 2022 (Bill 23), which is intended 
to accelerate housing supply growth in Ontario, received 
Royal Assent. Bill 23 amended the Development Charges 
Act, introducing new mandatory phase-ins, residential 
exemptions, discounts and capped the interest rate that 
municipalities can charge on frozen development charges 
and installment payments. Bill 23 also made some costs 
ineligible for development charges funding, for example 
Housing Services.

DEBT ISSUANCE
Under the Municipal Act, municipalities in Ontario may 
incur debt mostly for capital projects. A regulation 
under the Act restricts the annual cost of servicing long-
term debt and other financial obligations to 25% of a 
municipality’s own-source revenue.

In addition, the Region qualifies for a “growth cost 
supplement” that is equal to 80% of the average of the 
Region’s last three fiscal years of development charge 
collections, which provides it with more debt room to 
meet the capital-related needs of growth. The Region’s 
practice, however, is to add only 70% of the three-year 
average, not the full permitted 80%. The Region met 
these limits in 2022. 

OUTLOOK AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT
As recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board, 
this section includes information on significant risks and 
uncertainties and briefly outlines how the Region works to 
manage them.

PROVINCIAL DIRECTION
Following a provincial election in June 2022, the 
government made significant changes to municipal roles, 
powers and funding sources. Many of these changes 
were put in place through Bill 23. In addition to the 
Development Charges Act, Bill 23 amended several existing 
statutes and introduced a new one specific to York Region. 
Key implications of the bill are:

•	 The changes to the Development Charges Act outlined 
above, will reduce the Region’s development charge 
collections. As of early 2023, the province had not 
announced the regulations/bulletins needed to 
evaluate the full financial impacts. As a result, the 
Region faces considerable uncertainty around how it 
will fund new infrastructure needed to enable growth. 

•	 The new Supporting Growth and Housing in York and 
Durham Regions Act, 2022, requires the Region to 
meet growth needs in its northern communities by 
expanding the York-Durham Sewage System, which 
carries wastewater to a facility on Lake Ontario. This 
could cost more than the Regional solution based 
in the Lake Simcoe watershed that was included in 
previous capital plans.

•	 The Planning Act, 1990 now allows for higher housing 
density, including adding new units to an existing 
dwelling “as of right” (which means without needing 
municipal permission beyond a building permit). 

As part of the 2023-2024 provincial budget consultation, 
the Region requested the province to consider contributing 
to the cost of Regional growth-related infrastructure as it 
works to achieve new housing targets. The Region also 
continues to advocate for additional funding from senior 
levels of government and new revenue tools to help 
ensure it can deliver infrastructure and services needed to 
support growth. 

In addition, two new regulations passed in December 
2022 removed environmental protection from close to 
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330 hectares of previously protected Greenbelt and 
Oak Ridges Moraine lands in York Region to allow 
development applications. These measures and the “as of 
right” changes to the Planning Act could require changes to 
infrastructure master plans, which in turn would affect the 
size, timing and/or prioritization of projects in the Region’s 
capital plans.

FUNDING THE SUBWAY EXTENSION
Extending the Line 1 subway northward along Yonge 
Street to the Richmond Hill / Langstaff Urban Growth 
Centre at Highway 7 is a Regional priority but will require 
an investment of $1.12 billion from the Region to fund its 
share. This will be a challenge, especially in light of Bill 23 
measures that will reduce development charge collections.

The Region’s 2023-26 budget is based on 75% of the 
Region’s $1.12 billion share of the subway project being 
funded by development charges. The remaining portion 
of funding represents a tax levy pressure. Regional Council 
approved a special Rapid Transit / Infrastructure Levy of 
1% in 2022 and added a further 1% in 2023 to help fund 
the tax levy portion of the project. Continuation of the 
incremental levy beyond 2023 is subject to future 
Council approval.

ECONOMIC GROWTH
With high levels of vaccination and easing of pandemic-
related restrictions, the Ontario and York Region 
economies continued to recover in 2022. New external 
factors, however, dampened earlier forecasts. In its 
fall 2022 economic update, the provincial government 
projected that Ontario’s real gross domestic product would 
rise 2.6% in 2022, 0.5% in 2023, 1.6% in 2024 and 2.1% 
in 2025. These figures were slightly below the average 
of private-sector forecasts, and for 2022 and 2023 were 
much lower than projections made in the spring budget.

The forecast reflected ongoing uncertainty and 
inflationary cost increases related to the Russia-Ukraine 
conflict and other global events, and higher interest rates 
as central banks tightened monetary policy. As a result, 
some sectors of the provincial and Regional economy saw 
lower-than-forecast growth. 

Overall, however, the Region continued adding jobs in 
2022. Job postings, which rose sharply in 2021, remained 
strong in 2022. This reflected economic recovery as well 
as challenges in filling jobs as an increasing number of 
people left the labour force, reducing the potential pool 
of employees. Widespread demand for labour as the 
economy recovered put Canada’s unemployment rate at a 
near-record low of 5.0% in December 2022. 

In the longer term, several important sectors in the 
Region, including manufacturing, financial services 
and construction, are expected to remain robust as the 
economy continues its recovery and inflation moderates. 
Improvement is expected to be bolstered by the 
increasing shift toward electric vehicles, as Ontario has 
invested heavily in supporting the new technology, and 
by the recent provincial target of adding 1.5 million new 
residences to Ontario’s housing stock.

SLOWER-THAN-EXPECTED POPULATION GROWTH
Many large growth-related assets are built based on a 
population forecast, often for a specific area of the Region. 
When growth differs significantly from forecast, related 
development charge collections can be delayed. There are 
financial impacts when growth is not aligned to forecast. 

The Regional Official Plan aligns growth with the timing 
and delivery of Regional infrastructure. It also coordinates 
with the Water and Wastewater and Transportation 
Master Plans. Further, the Region works with local 
municipalities and other stakeholders to provide new 
infrastructure in an orderly way. These measures support 
the Region’s financial sustainability. 

A CHANGING POPULATION
Changes in the make-up of the population can have 
fiscal impacts. For the Region, a major driver is its aging 
population. Data from the 2021 census showed the 
Region’s seniors’ population was growing faster than 
any other age group. For the first time, there were more 
seniors than children in the Region. This can have fiscal 
impacts because seniors need more supports as 
they age. The Region has responded by updating 
its Seniors’ Strategy.
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The 2021 census also recorded the arrival of almost 
53,500 new immigrants to York Region since 2016. 
Close to 240 distinct ethnic origins were reported for the 
Region’s population and almost half of its residents were 
born outside Canada. Despite a generally high level of 
education, newcomers to the Region often need language 
and other training and help finding jobs. The Region and 
its partners provide a range of services to help newcomers 
and to support diversity and inclusivity.

HOUSING AFFORDABILITY
Housing affordability continues to be a challenge in York 
Region and throughout the Greater Toronto and Hamilton 
Area. High home prices and a scarcity of rental units 
threaten the ability of residents living with low income 
to find housing they can afford. Responding to housing 
concerns, the Region established a Housing Affordability 
Task Force in February 2021 and has increased funding for 
housing-related programs.

THE IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE
The global climate is changing, with impacts on Canada 
that include warmer average temperatures, more extreme 
storms and more volatile weather. Projected changes in 
climate are expected to have wide-ranging impacts in 
York Region, including potentially costly property damage 
from flooding, hail, ice, snow and wind, economic losses, 
environmental degradation and health risks. The Region’s 
recently adopted Climate Change Action Plan outlines 
its response, which includes measures both to mitigate 
impacts by reducing greenhouse gases in the atmosphere 
and adapt by strengthening infrastructure and promoting 
climate resiliency. 

In the 2023 budget, the Region outlined how it 
will develop a new framework for reporting on its 
Environmental, Social and Governance performance. This 
framework will help to fund activities in these areas as 
well as monitoring and reporting on them.

PANDEMIC-RELATED RISKS
By 2022 year-end, almost all restrictions on individuals, 
businesses, schools and other public places had been 
dropped, pandemic-related supply chain problems had 
eased and 90% of York Region residents aged five or older 
had received at least one dose of a COVID-19 vaccine. 
As noted above, this contributed to continuing economic 
recovery. It also reduced impacts on the Region’s finances.

Senior government funding, which tapered off in 2022 and 
is expected to end after 2023, was important in helping 
the Region cover pandemic-related costs and maintain its 
strong financial position. While most immediate impacts 
have declined, transit revenue is expected to take several 
years to recover. As well, the Region continues to monitor 
long-term impacts of the pandemic to assess whether a 
“new normal” baseline is being established in some areas 
that would affect its budget. 

WORKFORCE CHANGES
Demographic factors are affecting Regional government, 
especially through health and safety concerns related to 
an aging workforce. In addition, the Region, like many 
other employers, faces a labour market with increasing 
competition for workers with the right skills as many older 
employees retire. 

The Region is managing these pressures and risks by 
increasing its contributions to a number of staffing-related 
reserves and by placing greater emphasis on employee 
wellness. As well, to manage the risk of loss of knowledge 
and expertise as employees retire, it is planning carefully 
for succession needs.

CYBER-SECURITY
Web-based interactions are increasing between residents 
and the Region and across its workforce. Going hand-in-
hand with this trend is a higher risk of cyber attacks. Third 
parties constantly try to access systems, whether to take 
information, interrupt services or steal and extort funds, 
reflecting a problem that is global in scope and affects all 
organizations. The Region has developed a comprehensive 
set of protocols and practices to better understand, 
safeguard against and act quickly to address these risks 
and safeguard data. In the case of a breach, the Region’s 
processes and quick action are able to limit access and 
mitigate damage.
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CONCLUSION
York Region’s strong financial results for 2022 show the 
ability to manage cost pressures triggered by global 
events while continuing to resume regular services as 
pandemic pressures eased.

The Region’s borrowings continued to drop in line with 
Council’s commitment through the Regional Fiscal Strategy 
to reduced reliance on debt. Looking ahead, changes 
resulting from recent provincial measures, especially 
Bill 23, will present fiscal challenges by reducing 
revenues and increasing costs. We look forward to 
greater clarity and additional details from the provincial 
government to assess the long-term impacts. This will 
be particularly important in light of the Region’s need to 
fund its $1.12 billion share of the Yonge North Subway 
Extension, which has already required us to plan for 
additional funding.

Despite these concerns, the Region remains a net investor, 
with the ratio of reserves to debt continuing to rise. It is 
our hope that this strong position, combined with fiscal 
prudence, will allow the Region to successfully meet the 
challenges of a changing fiscal landscape.

The value of our prudent financial management to date is 
confirmed by maintaining highest possible credit ratings 
from S&P Global Ratings and Moody’s Investors Service. 
These ratings allow the Region to borrow at favourable 
rates and increase our pool of potential investors.

The Treasurer’s report requires diligent work and 
collaboration from staff across the whole organization. 
As always, I offer my thanks for their dedication and effort, 
which are clearly reflected in these pages.

Laura Mirabella, FCPA, FCA 
Commissioner of Finance and Regional Treasurer 
May 11, 2023
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The Regional Municipality of York 

Audit Committee  

 

June 8, 2023 

 

Report of the Director, Audit Services 

Audit Services Branch Report 

1. Recommendations 

Council receive this report for information. 

2. Summary 

This report provides an update on the activities of the Audit Services Branch since the last 

Audit Committee meeting held on January 26, 2023. 

3. Background  

The Audit Services Branch provides independent, objective assurance and advisory services 

designed to add value and help improve York Region’s operations. Audit Committee meets 

twice yearly and receives the Audit Services Branch activities in the fulfilment of their 

oversight responsibilities on the Region’s systems of internal control and the audit process. 

4. Analysis 

Audit Plan Execution 

The Audit Services Branch 2023 Risk-Based Work Plan (Work Plan) was approved by 

Council on February 23, 2023. A status update of the Work Plan is included in Appendix A. 

Audit projects completed – Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards is reported 

separately and in private pursuant to Section 239(1)(a) of the Municipal Act, 2001 as it 

concerns security of Regional Property. An update on the Status of Management Action 

Plans as at March 31, 2023 is included in Attachment 1.   

Audit Services continues to deliver on the 2023 Work Plan with several audits in progress. 

Additionally, Audit Services continues to follow up on outstanding management action plans, 

provide advisory services, maintain the quality assurance and improvement program that 

covers all aspects of the internal audit activity and advance the Fraud Prevention Program. 

Investigation services continue to be completed as required.  
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Audit Reports Issued 

The following audit reports have been issued since January 26, 2023: 

 March 2023 Status of Management Actions Plans (Attachment 1) 

 Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards Audit (Private Attachment) 

Audit Services Branch supports Vision and the 2023 to 2027 Strategic Plan 

The Audit Services Branch, through its service offerings including assurance, advisory, and 

investigative services, assists the Region in achieving its goals and community results areas 

in Vision and in the 2023 to 2027 Strategic Plan under Good Government. The internal audit 

activity is designed to add value and improve the organization’s operations through a 

systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 

governance, risk management, and internal controls.  

5. Financial 

Audit Services continues to manage its workload within the allocated budget. 

6. Local Impact 

The Audit Services Branch provides auditing, advisory, and investigative services to seven of 

the local municipalities through an Agreement on a cost recovery basis. 

7. Conclusion 

Audit Services continues to conduct audits, provide advisory and investigative services, 

advance the Fraud Prevention Program, follow up on management action plans and maintain 

the quality assurance and improvement program. An update of Audit Services activities will 

be brought forward to the next Audit Committee meeting scheduled for January 2024.   

 

 

For more information on this report, please contact Michelle Morris, Director, Audit Services 

1-877-464-9675 ext.71205. Accessible formats or communication supports are available 

upon request. 

 

Recommended by: Michelle Morris 

Director, Audit Services   
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eDOCS #  15246834 

Appendix A – Status of the 2023 Risk Based Work Plan 

Attachment 1 – Status of Management Action Plans Report March 31, 2023 

Private Attachment 1 -  Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards Audit
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 4 

STATUS OF AUDIT SERVICES BRANCH 2023 RISK-BASED WORK PLAN  

Table 1 – Status of Audit Projects  

Strategic Plan 
Area of Focus 

Department Project Status 

Economic 
Vitality 

Transportation Bus Operations Contracts 
Audit 
 

Not started  

Good 
Government 

Legal Services – Court 
Services 
 

Revenue Management In progress 

Finance – Strategy & 
Transformation 
 

Payroll Audit In progress 

Finance Procurement Not started 
 

Finance – Controllership 
Office 
 

PCI Compliance Complete 

Corporate Services – 
Information Technology * 

Cyber Security In progress 

Healthy 
Communities 

Community and Health 
Services – Shelter 
Operations 
 

Shelter Operations Not started  

Community and Health 
Services – Long Term 
Care Homes 
 

Long Term Care Homes Not started 

Sustainable 
Environment 

Environmental Services 
– Operations 
Maintenance & 
Monitoring 

Waste Management 
arrangements between 
the Region and local 
municipalities 

In progress 

Environmental Services 
– Infrastructure Asset 
Management* 

SCADA Audit In progress 
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STATUS OF AUDIT SERVICES BRANCH 2022 RISK-BASED WORK PLAN  

Table 2 – Other Activities 

Project Name Status 

1. Forensic Investigation Services Ongoing 

2. Advisory Services 

 Vaccine Review 
Ongoing 

3. Control Monitoring Program Ongoing 

4. Quality Assurance and Improvement Initiatives 

 Audit Software implementation 

 Institute of Internal Auditors Standards Update 

 Reporting in the Internal Quality Assurance process 

Ongoing 

5. Audit Services under the Agreement for seven of the local 
municipalities 

Ongoing 

6. Education and Outreach – Internal Audit Awareness May 2023 
Campaign 

Complete 

7. Risk-Based Work Plan 2024 Not started 

8. Fraud Prevention Program In progress 

 

eDocs# 15246852 
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Audit Services 
Status of Management Action 

Plans Report 
 

As at March 31, 2023 
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Executive Summary 

 

Audit Services has completed a follow-up on the status of Management Action Plans (MAPs) as 

at March 31, 2023. Our follow-up was conducted in accordance with the Institute of Internal 

Auditors International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing Standard 2500 

– Monitoring Progress, which requires that the chief audit executive establish and maintain a 

system to monitor the disposition of results communicated to management and ensure that 

management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior management has accepted 

the risk of not taking action. 

 

The follow-up included: 

 All audit reports with one or more open MAPs as of our previous status report dated 

September 30, 2022 and reported to Audit Committee in January 2023.  

 Requests for a One Year Past Due memo from management, where appropriate.1  

 

Based on the responses received, management remains committed to the implementation of 

internal controls and process improvements to mitigate the risks identified in our audits. Table 1 

below illustrates the progress management has made over the previous five year period in 

addressing audit findings in public audit reports: 

 

     Table 1 

AUDIT REPORT 
YEAR 

  TOTAL MAPS   MAPS COMPLETED 
(as at 03/31/23) 

  MAPS COMPLETED % 
(as at 03/31/23) 

  

2018  36  36  100%   

2019  32  31  97%   

2020  24  24  100%   

2021  10  5  50%   

2022  15  5  33%  

Total   117   101   86%   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 As requested by Audit Committee in November 2008, departments having a MAP that remains 

outstanding more than one year past the original due date must provide Audit Committee with a separate 

memo as to why the action plan has not been completed.   
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The following illustration shows a comparison between our last update and our current update of 

the percentage of MAPS completed for audit reports issued over the previous five year period: 

 

Chart 1 

 
 

 

Five audit reports with a combined total of 19 open MAPs were followed up as of March 31, 2023.  

In total, 14 of the 30 original MAPs – or 47% – have been fully implemented to date. In the last 

term of Council, this has ranged between 60% and 90% and varies based on timing of reports 

being issued.  The current figure of 47% is lower than usual due to the higher number of recent 

audits in the current status update, for which there are more open management action plans than 

closed. 

 

For a summary of audit reports followed up, please see Table A. For updated status of MAPs as 

at March 31, 2023 see Table B.  Additional detail is available upon request from the Director, 

Audit Services. 
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TABLE A – Summary of Status of Management Action Plans as at March 31, 2023 
 

Audit Report 

Date Reported 
to Audit 

Committee 

Number of 
recommendations 

in Audit Report 

Completed 
by 

09/30/22 
Completed 
for 03/31/23 

Not yet 
complete as 
at 03/31/23 

(%) 
Complete as 
at 03/31/23  

CHS – Sexual Health Clinics January 2020 5 3 1 1 80% 

OCAO – Long-Term Disability 
Management & Oversight 

January 2022 10 3 2 5 50% 

CS – Handling of Private Information January 2023 8 n/a 5 3 63% 

PW – Water Services Billing January 2023 4 n/a 0 4 0% 

FIN – Development Charges January 2023 3 n/a 0 3 0% 

Grand Total  30 6 8 16 47% 

 
 
Department Legend: 
 
CHS Community and Health Services 
OCAO Office of the Chief Administrative Officer 
CS Corporate Services 
PW Public Works 
FIN Finance 
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TABLE B – Status of Management Action Plans as at March 31, 2023 

 

 

Audit 

Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

CHS – 
Sexual 
Health 
Clinics 

 
 

4.3 

a) Determine the frequency and need for the 

community needs assessment.  Consider updating 

the needs assessment every 4 years in line with 

term of Council.  

 

 

Draft revised Sexual Health Clinic Needs 

Assessment completed for Q1 2023; however, 

additional work required to address concerns raised 

in audit report. Target date for new Sexual Health 

Clinic Community Needs Assessment is end of 

2024. MOH to provide update to Audit Services in 

Q4 2024. 

 

Q4 2020 

 

 

Q4 2024 

b) Ensure the information included in the needs 

assessment is current and relevant.  

 

c) Ensure all information contained in the needs 

assessment is directly tied to and supported by the 

survey results.  

 

d) Consider the use of an external resource to 

prepare the needs assessment, or at a minimum 

review the assessment prepared internally.  

4.5 

Strengthen oversight and enforcement measures 

to ensure that all mandatory training is completed 

and tracked annually as required. 

 

Complete – Mandatory training for all staff 

has been tracked and reviewed throughout 2022 and 

all mandatory training for 2022 was completed by 

the end of Q4 2022. 

 

Q4 2019 

 

N/A 
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Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

OCAO – Long-
Term Disability 
Management & 
Oversight 

4.1 

4.1.1 

Management should consider 

transferring the payment processing 

to the benefits administrator in the 

new contract.  

 

 

 

Work is happening to review the implementation of having 

LTD benefits transferred back to Sun Life. There is project 

group that has been assigned to York Region and meetings 

began in December 2022 to discuss and scope the project.  

 

Through the project work done in Q1 of 2023 to review the 

process of transferring payment, it was determined at the 

March 2023 meeting, what the outstanding steps are: 

 Communication Strategy for employees on transfer 

(via letter) to inform them of change and time required 

to provide banking info (to allow for confirmation of 

when payment would start form SL) 

 Additional communication to employees that continue 

to pay for extended benefits establishing that 

deductions would continue under Sun Life 

 Stakeholder Communication: communication to the 

Union (CUPE/ONA) on the change and impact to staff 

 Establishing a new bank account to be used for LTD 

benefits where SL could withdraw funds from the 

Region. This would be set up through the 

Controllership Office and would take 16 weeks to 

move through the approval process 

 Sun Life confirmed that once the account has been 

established by the Region, that it would take Sun Life 

an additional 12 weeks to work through the 

changes/implementation internally. 

As such, a new projected completion date would be some 

time in Q4. 

 

 

Q1 2023 

 

 

Q4 2023 
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Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

 4.1.2 

Management should request quotes 

for payment processing service to 

be provided as part of the RFP 

submission. 

 

 

Complete – With the approval of the change in benefit pay 

provider, the administration fee has been addressed as part 

of the administration fees for claim management (on 

approved claims) 

 

Q1 2023 

 

N/A 

 4.2 

4.2.1 

Human Resources should strongly 

consider developing and 

implementing a formal guideline 

for management that is sent at the 

time staff start a leave, that provides 

clear direction on their role and 

responsibilities for supporting staff 

on LTD.  

 

 

 

Complete as of previous status update 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

N/A 

 

 4.2.2 

Management should consider 

creating and implementing a 

recurring Health and Safety 

refresher training module to ensure 

managers are reminded of their 

responsibilities and equipped with 

the necessary knowledge to support 

staff on LTD.   

 

This work was put on hold due to competing health and 

safety priorities and will resume in Q3 of 2023.  

 

We have partnered with the Supervisor of Employee 

Communications and Engagement, to include in their work 

plan for 2023 and 2024.  

 

 

Q2 2022 

 

Q4 2023 
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Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

 
 

4.5 

4.5.1 

Management should review and 

update the current administration 

process for tracking and managing 

claim files and eliminate the need 

for duplication of systems and 

information. 

 

 

 

Complete as of previous status update 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

N/A 

 4.5.2 

Management should develop clear 

electronic case management 

practices for the Parklane system.   

 

 

The review of SOPs with respect to documentation in 

Parklane is scheduled to be complete for Q 3 2023. Once 

the SOP is completed, it will be forwarded to Corporate 

Audit as part of the supporting documents for this audit. 

 

Q4 2022 

 

Q2 2023 

 4.5.3 

Management should consider going 

paperless with claim files 

electronically maintained in 

Parklane. In the interim, alternative 

options should be explored to 

eliminate the need for paper files to 

be stored at employees’ personal 

residences. 

 

 

Records and Information Management has advised us that 

once the SOP on documentation is complete, they will 

review with EHU the record keeping and electronic 

standards required to maintain Employee Health Files – 

any changes to documenting (document linking) files in 

Parklane will be reflected in the SOP for Parklane 

documentation. 

 

Q4 2022 

 

Q4 2023 
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Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

 4.5.4 

In the interim, Management should 

review and update the Excel master 

tracking spreadsheet to ensure that 

it reflects current claim status and 

payment information. 

 

 

Complete as of previous status update 

 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 4.6 

4.6.1 

The Region should review and 

consider incorporating into the new 

benefits administration contract the 

following: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 a) Specific performance measures 

relating to the timeliness and 

effectiveness of claim management. 

Complete – Addressed through contract/RFP – please site 

the following when contacting Procurement: 
 

The performance measures are covered in the audit 

program Sun Life has with their files and the yearly review 

that is done with the client (York Region) to address their 

“Sun Life Promise” which speaks to addressing any 

performance issues we encounter that are contrary to the 

contractual expectations. 

 

Q4 2022 N/A 

 b) Requirements for the benefit 

administrator to verify physicians' 

license status during the initial 

claim assessment and annual 

verification for active claims. 

Complete – Sun Life confirmed that this is an internal 

process that they have and once physicians are placed on 

the “Fraud List”, their name is flagged when processes any 

reports or request for payment for medical updates/reports. 

Q4 2022 N/A 
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Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

 c) Specific audit clause to allow 

Region Audit Services to conduct 

audits of the benefit administrator’s 

claim management operations. 

Complete – Addressed through contract/RFP - Audit 

clause included.  

 

Q4 2022 N/A 

 d) Consider alternative fee cost 

structures that are not directly tied 

to the number of LTD claims.   

While we agree there is a risk, the Region’s fee structure 

cannot change as a result of being an ASO (Administrative 

Services Only) LTD contract. This means we hold the 

reserves and pay for the administration of each individual 

claim. This risk would be eliminated if the Region ever 

turned into an Insured Services Only contract.  (original 

response in Audit Report) 

N/A N/A 

 e) Include a provision detailing the 

role and responsibilities of the 

benefit provider for completing and 

reporting on fraud investigations. 

Complete – Addressed through contract/RFP. 

 

Q4 2022 N/A 

 f) Consider implementing a 

reporting framework for long 

duration claims, including 

confirmation of annual medical and 

member updates, and adjustments 

in CPP benefit rate information.   

Complete as of previous status update 

 

N/A N/A 

 4.7 

4.7.1 

Management should review the 

discrepancy between Parklane and 

Sun Life reporting and update 

accordingly. 

 

 

Complete – This claims audit process using Sun Life data 

and Parklane is performed as part of the review of each 

quarterly report. 

 

 

Q4 2022 

 

 

N/A 
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Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

 4.7.2 

Management should develop clear 

electronic case management 

practices including requirements for 

case management notes/comments 

and review date completion. 

(covered in 4.5.2) 

 

Covered in 4.5.2 

 

Q4 2022 

 

Q2 2023 

 4.7.3 

In the interim, management should 

review and update the Excel master 

tracking spreadsheet to ensure that 

it reflects current claim status and 

payment information. 

 

Complete as of previous status update 

 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 4.8 

4.8.1 

Management should request that 

Sun Life complete notes for all 

claim file action items and 

incorporate this requirement into 

the new contract. 

 

 

Complete as of previous status update 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

N/A 

 4.8.2 

Management should incorporate 

into the new contract specific 

performance measures relating to 

the timeliness and effectiveness of 

claim management. (covered in 

4.6.1). 

 

Complete – Addressed through contract/RFP. 
 

The performance measures are covered in the audit 

program Sun Life has with their files and the yearly review 

that is done with the client (York Region) to address their 

“Sun Life Promise” which speaks to addressing any 

performance issues we encounter that are contrary to the 

contractual expectations. 

 

 

Q4 2022 

 

N/A 
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Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

 4.8.3 

Management should follow up with 

Sun Life on the two noted 

outstanding CPP applications and 

implement measures to ensure 

pending CPP applications are 

closely monitored.  

 

 

Complete as of previous status update 

 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 4.10 

4.10.1 

Management should strongly 

consider transferring the payment 

processing to the benefit 

administrator to help minimize 

overpayments. Refer to 

Observation 4.1 – Payment 

Process.  

 

 

 

See response for 4.1.1 

 

 

Q1 2023 

 

 

Q4 2023 

 4.10.2 

Management should increase 

oversight on CPP application status, 

especially for staff approaching age 

65. 

 

 

Complete as of previous status update   

 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 4.10.3 

Management should finalize the 

SOP for overpayment collections. 

 

 

Complete as of previous status update 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 
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Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

 4.10.4 

Management should consider using, 

as defined in the SOP, collection 

agencies on vendor of record at the 

Region within Court Services. 

 

Complete as of previous status update 

 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 4.10.5 

Management should develop a 

formal policy on recovery of 

identified overpayments and work 

with Legal Services to explore 

opportunities to terminate 

employees for nonpayment. 

 

With the Overpayment Policy complete and shared, a 

meeting occurred in Q1 (Feb 2023) with Legal and Audit 

to discuss the options to collect monies that are 

outstanding. 

 

We are continuing to work with Legal Services unto Q3. 

 

Q2 2022 

 

Q4 2023 

 4.10.6 

Management should review the 

current overpayments and work 

with Finance to resolve the status of 

uncollectible accounts.  

 

 

This work is contingent on the Legal advice and guidance 

provided on the recovery processes, as led by Legal (see 

notes for 4.10.5) 

 

Q2 2022 

 

Q4 2023 

 

  

121



Status of Management Action Plans Report 
As at March 31, 2023 

 

 

Internal Audit Report  Page 15 
 

Audit Report Recommendation Management response 

Original 

due date 

Current 

due date 

CS – 
Handling of 
Private 
Information 

4.3.1 Management should also consider 

including server information when updating 

the Personal Information Bank to easily 

identify the location and access rights to 

specific personal information. This would 

create a more complete repository of 

information, as well as assist the Region in a 

quick response in the event of a cyber breach. 

Work has commenced on the development of 

communication plan to solicit information from 

stakeholders across the Region and the project remains 

on track to meet the anticipated due date. 

 

Q2 2023 Q2 2023 

4.4.1 Management should implement a list of 

formal inquiries that must be documented for 

each acquisition through the CRIT process to 

provide a consistent standard to the privacy 

assessment for all acquisitions. 

Work expected to start by May 15, 2023 and staff 

remain on track to meet the anticipated due date. 

 

Q3 2023 Q3 2023 

4.6.1 Due to the high-risk nature of handling of 

private information, Management should 

consider requiring a refresher course for 

employees on an annual basis reflecting the 

latest roles, responsibilities and best practices 

outlined in the Policy. 

4.6.2 As noted in Observation 4.1, the 

Corporate Privacy Policy requires update; 

accordingly, existing employees may not 

receive training on the new policy under the 

current training regimen. 

4.6.3 Management should consider 

implementing increased awareness materials 

into the training program regarding the risks 

and implications of the internal sharing of 

Review is underway of the existing privacy training 

module and scoping work to integrate the new 

Corporate Privacy Policy. Consultations are being 

conducted regarding the provision of annual refresher 

training and additional materials to guide staff in the 

event of a privacy breach.  The project remains on track 

to meet the anticipated due date. 

 

Q4 2023 Q4 2023 
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personal and sensitive information. Training 

materials should encourage employees to 

remove sensitive information to meet the 

minimum requirements when sharing 

information internally. 

4.6.4 To address the concerns of legacy access 

provided to systems implemented before the 

CRIT process, training materials for 

management should include a recommendation 

that Managers periodically review access 

rights to the systems in which they are 

responsible for. 
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PW – Water 
Services 
Billing 
 

4.1 The Region applies late payment interest 

charges as allowed by the water services 

bylaws to recover opportunity costs associated 

with the late payments. 

4.1.1 Original Management Response:  

We have a strong partnership with local municipalities 

to deliver water and wastewater services. Majority of 

the municipalities make payment in a timely manner. 

Many of the local municipalities have their own 

internal processes that mandate individual processing 

times. Feasibility of 15-day payment period may not be 

reasonable and would propose a 30-day payment 

period and interest charged after the 30 days. 

 

Status as at March 31, 2023: 

(PW) Most recent bylaw passed March 23, 2023 

stipulates 15 days. A revised, shorter timeline will be 

considered in 2024 as part of the bylaw update process. 

Q1 2024 Q1 2024 

  4.1.2 Original Management Response: 

Staff will work with Corporate Finance to evaluate the 

feasibility of current financial systems to support the 

issuance, tracking and collections of interest by Q4 

2023. 

 

Status as at March 31, 2023: 

(FIN) Discussions underway. Feasibility and options 

under review. On track. 

(PW) Discussions with Public Works and Corporate 

Finance staff underway to evaluate feasibility and 

develop next steps. 

 

Q4 2023 Q4 2023 
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 4.1.3 Original Management Response: 

Staff will work with local municipalities to finalize 

service level agreements which will cover interest 

payments within the agreements by Q4 2024. 

 

Status as at March 31, 2023: 

Preliminary planning for local municipal workshops 

underway in support of developing service level 

agreements. 

Q4 2024 Q4 2024 

 4.1.4 Original Management Response: 

Depending on the outcome of item 4.2, staff will revise 

the current bylaw to reflect the collection period Q1 

2024. 

 

Status as at March 31, 2023: 

(PW) By-laws get approved in March on an annual 

basis. Next update will be March 2024 and interest 

collection period would be included in this by-law 

update. 

Q1 2024 Q1 2024 

4.2 The Region establish a service level 

agreement and dispute resolution process with 

all local municipalities to better formalize roles 

and responsibilities of the Region and the local 

municipalities in water distribution and 

wastewater collection as part of integrated 

service delivery. 

4.2 Original Management Response: 

Agreed – staff will complete by Q4 

2024. 

 

Status as at March 31, 2023: 

(PW) Public Works staff will work with local 

municipalities through facilitated workshops to 

develop Service Level Agreement and dispute 

mechanism. Scope of work related to 4.1.3 has 

been developed. Currently one Service Level 

Q4 2024 Q4 2025 
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Agreement is in place with the Town of Newmarket 

and one in final draft with the Township of King 

regarding Schomberg Water System (anticipated to be 

signed off by end of Q2). 

4.3 Management consider the upcoming digital 

enhancements to set goals for reducing the 

time and resources needed to create water 

services billings to local municipalities. 

4.3 Original Management Response: 

As noted, York Region has longer processing times, 

given water is purchased from neighboring Toronto 

and Peel, requiring time to acquire data from our 

service providers, which is then billed to the local 

municipalities. Work is already underway to digitize the 

process and anticipate improvements by Q4 2024. 

 

Status as at March 31, 2023: 

(PW) Billing portal implemented to provide 

access to monthly billed volumes. Implemented 

with 3 of 9 municipalities- Vaughan, Markham 

and Richmond Hill. All municipalities will 

have access by the end of Q2 2023. 

(PW) Tabular model and digital dashboard in 

Development. 

Q4 2024 Q4 2024 

4.4 To help ensure accurate and up-to-date 

information is provided to users of the policy, 

Finance should:  

a) Review and update the Policy where updates 

are required.  

b) Update the link to the most current 

Delegation Bylaw.  

c) Finalize the Guidelines, taking into 

consideration any changes made to the Policy.  

4.4 Original Management Response: 

Corporate Finance will work to update the Collection 

of Accounts Policy and related Guideline by Q4 2023. 

 

Status as at March 31, 2023: 

(FIN) Review of Collection of Accounts Policy and 

related guideline is underway and progressing. On 

track. 

Q4 2023 Q4 2023 
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FIN – 
Development 
Charges 

4.1 Management should consider 

implementing an audit verification process to 

ensure DCs collected are complete and 

accurate. In the absence of a centralized 

software system, management could 

implement a periodic review of DC payments. 

Management has been collaborating with local 

municipal staff to ensure that the information provided 

to the Region will be complete, accurate and consistent 

until such time as YorkTrax becomes available. Staff 

have prepared a template of the information that is 

required which will be provided along with a formal 

letter on this matter by the Treasury Office within the 

Q2 time period. This will be coupled with periodic 

qualitive reviews of DC payment controls during the 

year. 

Q2 2023 Q2 2023 

4.2 Management should consider investing in 

an applicable automated centralized software 

that could track DC related data and provide 

real time reporting to both the locals and 

Region.  

 

Opportunities to coordinate with the locals on 

an integrated software system should be 

considered to increase efficiencies and provide 

better management oversight on completeness 

of DC’s calculated. 

No update at this time, however the ability to 

implement a new software solution is dependent on 

both budget and IT resource availability. Through the 

Finance Forward initiative various options are being 

considered. 

Q4 2024 Q4 2024 

4.3 Management should formally document 

DC related procedures, roles, and 

responsibilities. 

On track to implement by Q3 2023. A first draft of this 

manual has been prepared and discussed with local 

staff. 

Q3 2023 Q3 2023 
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